University of Alberta

Harmonic Current Control in a High-Power Current Source Rectifier System

by

Hua Zhou

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science

in Power Engineering and Power Electronics

Department of Electrical and Computer Engineering

©Hua Zhou Spring 2011 Edmonton, Alberta

Permission is hereby granted to the University of Alberta Libraries to reproduce single copies of this thesis and to lend or sell such copies for private, scholarly or scientific research purposes only. Where the thesis is converted to, or otherwise made available in digital form, the University of Alberta will advise potential users of the thesis of these terms.

The author reserves all other publication and other rights in association with the copyright in the thesis and, except as herein before provided, neither the thesis nor any substantial portion thereof may be printed or otherwise reproduced in any material form whatsoever without the author's prior written permission.

Examining Committee

- Dr. Venkata Dinavahi, Department of Electrical and Computer Engineering
- Dr. Yunwei Li, Department of Electrical and Computer Engineering
- Dr. Amit Kumar, Department of Mechanical Engineering

Abstract

Line current distortion is an important issue to a high-power current source rectifier (CSR) system. There are two main challenges related to this issue. First, the CSR input LC resonance can be affected by the variation of the source inductance from the power system and the effects of the CSR DC side circuit, which may lead to a line current distortion higher than expected. Another challenge is that the traditional high-power CSR using Selective Harmonic Elimination (SHE) pulse-width modulation (PWM) technique attempts to eliminate certain harmonics in the PWM current, which limits its ability for line current harmonic control. To control the CSR line current harmonics, this thesis focuses on two aspects: 1) the analysis and design of CSR input filter to avoid unexpected input LC resonance, and 2) the development of a new PWM scheme that can compensate the effects of the grid voltage harmonics and DC link current ripples. The thesis work has been validated by simulations and on an experimental CSR prototype.

Acknowledgements

I wish to express my deep gratitude to my supervisor, Dr. Yunwei Li, for his constant and kind support, excellent advices, and his guidance with patience and enthusiasm during the whole research work. The financial support throughout the entire Master of Science Program is also very much appreciated.

I would also acknowledge Rockwell Automation Canada, who supported this research work by donating hardware components, including the IGCT switches, heat sink units, etc., for the CSR prototype construction at University of Alberta. The technical discussions with Dr. Navid Zargari and Dr. Goerge Cheng from Rockwell Automation Canada were very fruitful.

I also would like to give many thanks to my colleagues at Dr. Li's group, especially Jinwei He and Raison Ni, who were always generous in giving me help during the experimental verification phase of this work.

I am very grateful to my parents, who are in my home town mentally supporting me to finish this research work.

Above all, I am especially indebted to my beloved wife, Chen Wu, for her great encouragement and patience. I could finish nothing without her support, and her love.

Contents

1	Introduction1
	1.1 Background2
	1.1.1 Current Source Rectifiers
	1.1.2 CSR Line Current Harmonics
	1.1.3 Principles of PWM CSR Control and Operation
	1.2 Thesis Objectives
	1.3 Thesis Outline
2	CSR Input LC Filter Design11
	2.1 CSR Input Filter and LC Resonance
	2.1.1 CSR Input Resonant Frequency12
	2.1.2 Effects of the CSR DC Side Circuit on Input Resonance 14
	2.2 CSR Input Filter Design Approach
	2.2.1 Filter Capacitor Selection
	2.2.2 Filter Inductor Selection
	2.2.3 Proposed Filter Design Procedure and Design Example23
	2.3 Summary
3	SHC PWM Design for CSR27
	3.1 Background of SHE Scheme
	3.2 The Proposed SHC PWM Scheme
	3.3 Waveforms of SHE and SHC in a CSR System

	3.3.1 Traditional SHE Switching Pattern	.32
	3.3.2 Proposed SHC Switching Pattern	. 33
	3.4 Calculations for the Nominal PWM Reference	.35
	3.5 Effects of DC Link Current Harmonics	.38
	3.5.1 DC Current Harmonics	.38
	3.5.2 Effects of the 6^{th} DC Current Harmonics	.42
	3.6 Off-Line SHC Angle Calculation Algorithms	.43
	3.6.1 SHC Switching Angle Calculation Algorithm	.43
	3.6.2 Constraint Conditions of the SHC Algorithm	.44
	3.7 Quasi-Online SHC PWM Implementation Scheme	.46
	3.8 Summary	.48
4	Simulation Results	50
	4.1 Simulations of the Proposed Filter Design Method	.51
	4.2 Simulations of the Proposed SHC PWM Scheme	.54
	4.2.1 Case 1: Traditional SHE	. 56
	4.2.2 Case 2: SHC without Compensation of DC Ripple Effects	.57
	4.2.3 Case 3: SHC with Compensation of DC Ripple Effects	.58
	4.3 Summary	.59
5	Experimental Verifications	60
	5.1 The Setup of CSR Prototype and Control System	.61
	5.2 Experiments of the Proposed Filter Design Method	.64
	5.3 Experiments of the Proposed SHC PWM Scheme	.66
	5.3.1 Case 1: Steady State Performance of SHC Scheme	.66
	5.3.2 Case 2: PWM Scheme Transient	.68
	5.3.3 Case 3: Grid Voltage Harmonic Transient	.69
	5.3.4 Case 4: DC Current Transient	.70
	5.4 Summary	.70

6	Conclusion and Future Work	72
	6.1 Thesis Contributions	.73
	6.2 Future Work	.74
Bi	bliography	76

List of Figures

Figure 1.1:	Typical circuit of a PWM CSR system
Figure 1.2:	Control scheme of a high-power PWM CSR system
Figure 2.1:	Modeling of the effects of CSR DC side circuit14
Figure 2.2:	Effects of L_d on the input LC resonance
Figure 2.3:	Effects of R_d on the input LC resonance17
Figure 2.4:	CSR Phasor diagram
Figure 2.5:	Line current THD curves
Figure 2.6:	Flow chart of filter design procedure
Figure 2.7:	THD curves for filter inductor design example25
Figure 3.1:	Relationship diagram of SHC scheme variables
Figure 3.2:	Traditional SHE PWM pattern (7 pulses per half cycle)31
Figure 3.3:	PWM pattern for SHC (7 pulses per half cycle)33
Figure 3.4:	Equivalent circuits of line current harmonic sources
Figure 3.5:	Equivalent circuit for DC current ripple analysis
Figure 3.6:	Algorithms of SHC PWM scheme
Figure 3.7:	SHC PWM scheme implementation46
Figure 3.8:	SHC quasi-online implementation for real-time applications $\dots 47$
Figure 3.9:	SHC look-up table (for 5^{th} harmonic compensation)49
Figure 4.1:	i_s and v_c of filter design simulation case 1
Figure 4.2:	i_s and v_c of filter design simulation case 2

Figure	4.3:	i_s waveforms and spectra of SHC simulations	55
Figure	4.4:	i_w waveforms and spectra of SHC simulations	55
Figure	5.1:	Experimental CSR prototype	62
Figure	5.2:	dSPACE-CPLD Control system	63
Figure	5.3:	Results of filter design experiment case 1	65
Figure	5.4:	Results of filter design experiment case 2	65
Figure	5.5:	Results of SHC experiment case 1	67
Figure	5.6:	Results of SHC experiment case 2	68
Figure	5.7:	Results of SHC experiment case 3	69
Figure	5.8:	Results of SHC experiment case 4	70

List of Tables

Table	2.1:	Results of the design example	. 25
Table	4.1:	System parameters for simulations	. 51
Table	4.2:	Simulation verifications of the input resonance drifting	. 53
Table	4.3:	Simulation results of SHC scheme verification	. 56
Table	5.1:	System parameters for experiments	. 61

Chapter 1

Introduction

This chapter introduces the background of this thesis. The main purpose of the research work is to develop methods to reduce the line current harmonics in a high-power current source rectifier (CSR) system. This is realized through two aspects: 1) CSR input LC filter design, and 2) new CSR pulse-width modulation (PWM) method development. In this chapter, the current source converters (CSC) are reviewed and their features are compared to the voltage source converters (VSC). Afterwards, the operation, control, and PWM issues of a CSR system are discussed. Then the objectives of this work, which are to develop filter design procedures and new PWM methods to reduce the line current harmonics in a CSR system, are presented. Finally, the outline of this thesis is provided at the end of this chapter.

1.1 Background

1.1.1 Current Source Rectifiers

The power converter circuits can be typically classified into two types, VSC and CSC [1]. When these converter systems are used in motor drive applications, rectifiers are normally used as the front-end converters to transfer the utility supply voltage (grid voltage) to a DC voltage/current with a fixed or adjustable magnitude [2]. Generally, a rectifier with good performance should be able to supply DC power to the drive system with high efficiency, which can be represented by power factor (PF), and also generate less harmonic pollutions to the power system, which can be expressed by the line current total harmonic distortion (THD) [3]. The topologies of the rectifiers used in VSCs and CSCs are different. Normally, a VSC system uses diode rectifier and a CSC system uses a silicon-controlled rectifier (SCR). Also pulse-width modulation (PWM) based rectifier systems are increasingly used in both VSC and CSC based drives [1]-[5]. The performances of these rectifiers are different depending on their control and PWM schemes.

The traditional solution to drive an AC motor is to use a VSC with diode rectifier due to the simplicity of its topology and different control methods that have been developed thoroughly for VSC [6]-[10]. However, nowadays, the issue of harmonic currents produced by the diode rectifiers has become a serious concern in electric power systems when more and more VSCs are used [11]-[15]. To reduce the power system harmonics generated by non-linear power devices, *IEEE Standard* 519 restricts the harmonics in the voltage and current at the point of common coupling (PCC) [13]. Although multi-pulse diode rectifiers and voltage source rectifiers (VSR) using PWM technologies can improve the harmonic performance



Figure 1.1: Typical circuit of a PWM CSR system

of the system to fulfill the line current distortion limits of *IEEE Standard 519*, higher transformer costs or more switching losses will be introduced in high-power applications. Besides, it is difficult for a VSC to provide an effective and reliable short circuit protection [1][16][17].

On the other hand, CSC based systems become interesting to the industry and have been increasingly used in high-power medium-voltage (2300V-6900V) drive applications due to their unique advantages [18]-[21]. Generally, a CSC-based drive system can have four prominent features [1]:

- Simple converter topology
- Four-quadrant operation
- Reliable short-circuit protection
- Motor-friendly waveforms with low dv/dt

Currently, in CSC applications, PWM CSRs are mostly used as the active frond-ends instead of the SCRs [22]. The reason is that a PWM CSR can obtain a direct regulation of its input fundamental and harmonic currents, and thus can achieve an improved PF, preferable line current harmonic performance, and the reduced costs with the possibility of eliminating the input isolation transformers [23].

Figure 1.1 shows a typical PWM CSR system connected to the grid. The system consists of six switching devices, typically gate-turn-off thyristors (GTO) or symmetrical integrated gate-commutated thyristors (IGCT). A DC link inductor is applied to reduce the DC current ripples and thus to provide a smooth DC current. On the CSR AC side, an LC filter is required, which is used to assist the switching device commutations and to reduce the system switching harmonics. The CSR equivalent line inductance (L_{eq}) includes the source impedance (L_s) and the added filter inductor (L_f). The CSR equivalent line capacitance (C_{eq}), on the other hand, is solely determined by the filter capacitor (C_f). However, the input LC filter used in a CSR may be resonant with the system background harmonics from the grid voltage and the harmonics generated by the PWM switching pattern [1][24]. This is particularly true when considering that at high-power applications, the PWM switching frequency of a CSR system is typically limited to a few hundred Hz[1]-[4]. Due to this reason, the issue of the line current harmonics is a traditional concern of a PWM CSR system.

1.1.2 CSR Line Current Harmonics

Voltage or current harmonics generated by power converters can cause various problems to other equipment connected to the common AC lines [25]. The over-heat and increase of acoustic noise in motors and inductors, and the over-current in capacitors for power factor correction are typical examples of such problems [26]. In recent years, the problems caused by the harmonic currents in electric power systems have become so serious that a great interest has been taken in the reduction of line current harmonics in rectifier systems [5][11]. The harmonic performance of a rectifier is normally illustrated by line current THD, which is defined by (1.1).

$$THD = \frac{\sqrt{I_2^2 + I_3^2 + I_4^2 \dots + I_n^2}}{I_1}$$
(1.1)

where I_1 is the fundamental component of line current, and I_2 , I_3 , ..., and I_n are the 2nd, 3rd, and n^{th} harmonic components. *IEEE Standard 519* sets limits of harmonic voltage and current at PCC in order to prevent harmonic current traveling back to the power system and affecting other customers [13].

From Figure 1.1, it can be found that the line current harmonic performance is affected dominantly by two factors, the PWM current (i_w) and the grid voltage (v_s) . Therefore, in order to improve the CSR line current waveforms, both reducing line current harmonics by applying properly designed LC filter and mitigating the effects of these two harmonic sources on the line current by using advanced PWM schemes should be considered.

1.1.3 Principles of PWM CSR Control and Operation

To reduce the CSR line current harmonics, the operation performance of the CSR is also important. PWM techniques are widely used in CSR due to the recent advancements in high-power switching device technology, electronic circuitry, and the advent of microprocessors [27]-[34]. Moreover, PWM can also be an active method to control the CSR line current harmonics when proper control schemes are adopted. Figure 1.2 shows a typical control scheme of a high-power PWM CSR system. From this figure, it can be seen that a PWM Scheme of a CSR requires a phase-lock loop (PLL), delay angle control (α control) for DC link current closed-loop control, and a PWM generator.



Figure 1.2: Control scheme of a high-power PWM CSR system

A. Delay Angle Control for CSR

As shown in Figure 1.2, the CSR PWM current is synchronized with the grid voltage using a PLL. As only the real power flow will determine the DC link current, the DC output current of a CSR can be adjusted by either the PWM modulation index M_a or PWM current delay angle (α) [1]-[4].

The modulation index M_a is given by (1.2)

$$M_a = \frac{I_{w1}}{I_d} \tag{1.2}$$

where I_{w1} is the magnitude of fundamental component of the PWM current i_w and I_d is the DC component the DC current i_d .

It is worth noting that using modulation index to control the DC link current will lead to a PWM zero state (a short circuit condition due to both two switches on one leg are ON), which could cause a higher loss on the switching devices and their sunbber circuits. On the other hand, due to the existence of the input capacitor, the CSR normally has a leading displacement power factor (DPF), which means

that using only modulation index control to adjust the DC current will lead to a leading DPF.

Another option to control the DC current is adjusting the delay angle α , which is the PWM gating delay angle referenced from the zero crossing of line-to-neutral grid voltage (note that the CSR capacitor voltage can also be the reference)[21]. By using α control, DC current can be adjusted by shifting the phase angle of the PWM current fundamental component, while the modulation index of the CSR can be fixed at its maximum value, meaning that zero switching state can be avoided and the leading DPF caused by the CSR input capacitor can be improved. In this thesis work, α control is applied to adjust the CSR DC current, as shown in Figure 1.2.

B. PWM Techniques for CSR

The PWM techniques for CSR systems can basically be classified into two categories: 1) on-line patterns, such as Sinusoidal Pulse-Width Modulation (SPWM) and Space Vector Modulation (SVM), and 2) off-line patterns, such as Selective Harmonic Elimination (SHE) modulation [35][36].

Due to the consideration of system switching losses, a high-power CSR is typically operated under a switching frequency of a few hundred Hz. However, this low switching frequency will produce low-order harmonics. Therefore to reduce the low-order harmonics in the CSR line current, the SHE PWM, which ideally eliminates certain harmonics (e.g. 5th, 7th 11th) in the PWM current i_w by using a look-up table obtained through off-line calculation of the corresponding switching angles, is widely used [1]. However, when grid voltage harmonics and DC current ripples exist, the performance of the traditional SHE will be affected. As will be discussed in the following section, the development of new PWM techniques based on the traditional SHE is one of the objectives of this thesis work.

1.2 Thesis Objectives

The main purpose of the thesis is to develop filter design methods and new PWM schemes for a high-power medium-voltage CSR system in order to reduce its line current THD. Conventional filter design approach is based on the CSR LC filter circuit. However, as the grid condition changes, the effective CSR AC side source inductance will vary, which will change the CSR system input resonant frequency. Furthermore, it is found in this work that the CSR DC side circuit will also affect the resonant situation on the AC side. On the other hand, as discussed previously, the traditional SHE PWM cannot effectively deal with the background harmonics from grid voltage or the effects of DC link current ripples. These effects become more obvious in a high-power CSR as the input LC filter is usually tuned with a low resonant frequency (to deal with the low switching frequency) that amplifies the effects of 5th grid voltage background harmonics on the line current.

To address these issues, the effort of this work is focused on the following aspects:

- 1. To investigate the CSR system input resonance phenomenon. The effects of the CSR DC link inductor on the input AC side are thoroughly studied and are modeled by an accurate 3rd-order transfer function that is derived and verified in this thesis.
- To develop a CSR input filter design procedure with consideration of the effects of source inductance variations and the effects of CSR DC side circuit. The designed filter will thus produce robust and predictable performance.
- 3. To develop a new PWM switching pattern that can actively compensate the background harmonics from the grid voltage. The new PWM technique is based on the improvement of the traditional SHE, but with the capability

to compensate the grid voltage background harmonics like an active power filter (APF). It can also deal with the DC current ripple effects. The developed PWM method is named Selective Harmonic Compensation (SHC) in this thesis.

- 4. To develop an on-line PWM scheme with consideration of the variation of grid voltage background harmonics. Unlike the traditional SHE, which is specifically designed to eliminate certain harmonics, the SHC PWM needs to be an on-line method to compensate the background harmonics from the grid voltage in real time. Due to the computation power required for switching angle calculations, a quasi-online implementation method based on a pre-calculated look-up table is developed in this work.
- 5. To develop simulation models and CSR experimental hardware prototype to verify the proposed filter design method and PWM schemes in simulations and experiments.

The first and second items listed above attempt to reduce the line current harmonics by using properly designed passive components. The third and fourth items focus on the reduction of the line current THD by designing an active PWM scheme that can compensate the harmonics from DC current and grid voltage.

1.3 Thesis Outline

This thesis contains six chapters.

The first chapter reviews the background of this work including the introduction of CSR and the issues of CSR line current harmonics. The objectives and the outline of this thesis are also presented in Chapter 1.

Chapter 2 focuses on the development of filter design procedure considering the impacts of the variation of source inductance and the effects of DC side circuit on the CSR input resonance. A 3rd-order transfer function is derived to model the effects of CSR DC side circuit on the CSR input resonance. A filter design example using the proposed method is presented.

Chapter 3 focuses on the new PWM scheme design. In this chapter, a more active PWM scheme that can be used to actively compensate the background harmonics from the grid voltage is designed. The proposed PWM method, named SHC PWM, can significantly improve the line current THD compared to the traditional PWM method, especially considering the fact that the LC filter in a high-power CSR system may amplify the 5th harmonics in the line current. Furthermore, a quasi-online PWM implementation method for the proposed SHC PWM is also developed.

Chapter 4 and Chapter 5 provide the verification results of the proposed filter design approach and developed SHC PWM schemes and quasi-online implementation methods. A Matlab/Simulink simulation model of the CSR system is developed in Chapter 4, and a 10 kVA CSR hardware prototype is built in the Lab in Chapter 5. The simulation and experimental results are consistent and proves the effectiveness of the thesis work.

Finally, conclusions of the thesis work are provided in Chapter 6. Recommendations for future research on this topic are also provided in this chapter.

Chapter 2

CSR Input LC Filter Design

This chapter focuses on the CSR input resonance investigation and filter design methods. First, the issues of CSR input filters and input LC resonance are discussed. Afterwards, the impacts of CSR DC side circuit and the variation of source inductance are analyzed. The proposed filter design procedure is then developed and a design example is provided.

2.1 CSR Input Filter and LC Resonance

As discussed in Chapter 1, the LC filter on the CSR AC side, which is normally required to assist the commutation of the switching device and to enhance the power factor [37], could improve the line current harmonic performance since the filter inductor can smoothen the current waveforms. However, introducing a poorly designed LC filter on the CSR AC side may lead to an unexpected LC resonance [22].

The topic of CSR filter design has been addressed by some papers in the literature [38]-[41]. However, most of the filter design methods for CSR are developed based on the assumption that the DC side circuit has an ideally large inductor and the DC link current is thus regarded as an ideal current source. This assumption simplifies the design procedure by neglecting the effects of the CSR DC side circuit on the AC side. The DC side circuit, however, can actually lead to the drifting of the CSR input LC resonance on the AC side, which is particularly true when a smaller DC inductor (L_d) is used. On the other hand, the CSR total equivalent line inductance L_{eq} , normally in the range of 0.1 to 0.15 per unit (p.u.) [1], could vary due to the source inductance L_s from the power system, as shown in Figure 1.1. This may also result in an undesired input LC resonance which could consequently lead to a higher line current THD.

Usually a large size filter is applied to address this problem [2]. However, a systematic approach to the filter design, which is developed in this chapter, can reduce the filter size and ensure a more predictable filter performance.

2.1.1 CSR Input Resonant Frequency

The basic idea of the filter design for a PWM CSR is to select an input LC filter

that can set the CSR equivalent input line resonant frequency (ω_{eq}) in the frequency range where no unwanted harmonic component exists, and thus the distortion in the line current can be reduced [42]. The PWM schemes, such as SHE, can shape the frequency spectra of the input current waveforms with low switching frequencies. Therefore, in high-power CSR applications, the SHE PWM is normally selected to eliminate low-order harmonics (5th and 7th) and the input filter is designed to mitigate higher order harmonics. However, the CSR input resonant frequency ω_{eq} should still avoid the 5th and 7th order harmonics because of three reasons:

- The resonant frequency of the input filter could be close to the 5th or 7th harmonics since the input filter with lower resonant frequency requires a larger inductor and capacitor which means higher passive component size and cost [43]-[46].
- 2. Complete elimination of 5th and 7th harmonics generated by the PWM is difficult due to the DC current ripples and non-ideal switching control [47].
- 3. CSR line current can have low-order background 5th or 7th harmonics from the grid voltage.

The difference between the filter resonant frequency (ω_f) and the CSR input resonant frequency ω_{eq} is critical for the filter design. The disparity between ω_f and ω_{eq} is primarily introduced by the variation of source impedance.

As shown in Figure 1.1, the unknown source inductance L_s from the power system can result in the variation of the total equivalent line inductance L_{eq} , and thus leads to a change of ω_{eq} . The relationship between ω_f and ω_{eq} can be illustrated by (2.1).

$$k = \frac{\omega_f}{\omega_{eq}} = \frac{\frac{1}{\sqrt{L_f C_f}}}{\frac{1}{\sqrt{L_{eq} C_{eq}}}} \xrightarrow{C_{eq} = C_f, L_{eq} = L_s + L_f} \sqrt{1 + \frac{L_s}{L_f}}$$
(2.1)



Figure 2.1: Modeling of the effects of CSR DC side circuit

From (2.1), it can be found that ω_{eq} equals to ω_f only when the filter inductance L_f is much higher than the source inductance L_s , which also leads to a unity k. Otherwise, the effect of L_s on ω_{eq} can be obvious and thus need to be considered during the filter design. On the other hand, it can be found that the ratio k is directly affected by L_s , and a larger L_s leads to a smaller ω_{eq} when ω_f is fixed. Therefore, considering the relationship indicated in (2.1), it is necessary to determine the tolerances of L_{eq} during the filter design to achieve a desired ω_{eq} .

2.1.2 Effects of the CSR DC Side Circuit on Input Resonance

Another factor that affects CSR input resonance is the impact of CSR DC side circuit. In the filter design for a CSR system, the DC link current is normally considered as a constant current source with the common assumption that an ideally large DC link inductor L_d is applied at the DC link. However, it is found in this work that a DC inductor with a typical size, normally in the range of 0.5 to 0.8 p.u. in a CSR system [1], may not be big enough to neglect its effects on the CSR input LC resonance. This section provides a systematic analysis on this issue.

Since the DC side circuit is connected to the AC side by the switching devices controlled by PWM schemes, the impact of the DC side circuit on the CSR input LC resonance is related to the PWM switching pattern. In this analysis, SHE PWM scheme without zero state is used. Due to the SHE pattern for CSR, there are always two switches from different legs at ON state at any time. This means that in 1/3 of one switching period (T), both switches on the same leg are OFF, and for the other 2/3 period only one switch on this leg is ON. Now use phase A as an example. In the case of both switches S_1 and S_4 are OFF, the equivalent circuit can be obtained as in Figure 2.1(a), and this situation will last for T/3.

If the grid voltage v_s is pure sinusoidal and only the effects of the PWM current i_w on the line current i_s are studied, v_s can be shorted and the CSR filter can be regarded as working in the paralleled resonance mode. This equivalent circuit is shown in Figure 2.1(b). Therefore, the transfer function from i_w to i_s can be obtained as given in (2.2).

$$\frac{i_s}{i_{w1}}(s) = \frac{1}{C_{eq}L_{eq}s^2 + R_{eq}C_{eq}s + 1}$$
(2.2)

where i_{w1} is the equivalent PWM current (which is valid for T/3 interval).

On the other hand, when only one of the switches S_1 and S_4 is ON, the equivalent circuit changes into Figure 2.1(c). This situation will last for 2T/3. Figure 2.1(d) can be obtained considering the parallel resonance mode, and the transfer function given in (2.3) is thus derived.

$$\frac{i_s}{i_{w2}}(s) = \frac{(L_d s + R_d)}{[L_d C_{eq} L_{eq} s^3 + (R_d C_{eq} L_{eq} + L_d R_{eq} C_{eq})s^2 + (\frac{4}{3}L_{eq} + L_d + R_d R_{eq} C_{eq})s + (\frac{4}{3}R_{eq} + R_d)]}$$
(2.3)

where i_{w2} is the equivalent PWM current that is valid for the corresponding 2T/3 interval. Therefore, the final equivalent PWM current i_{w_eq} for one switching period

can be obtained by (2.4).

$$i_{w_eq} \cdot T = i_{w1} \cdot (\frac{1}{3}T) + i_{w2} \cdot (\frac{2}{3}T)$$
(2.4)

By substituting (2.2) and (2.3) into (2.4), the transfer function that illustrates the average effect of PWM current i_w on the line current i_s can be derived, as given in (2.5).

$$\frac{i_s}{i_{w_eq}}(s) = \frac{(L_d s + R_d)}{[L_d C_{eq} L_{eq} s^3 + (R_d C_{eq} L_{eq} + L_d R_{eq} C_{eq})s^2 + (\frac{8}{9} L_{eq} + L_d + R_d R_{eq} C_{eq})s + (\frac{8}{9} R_{eq} + R_d)]}$$
(2.5)

From (2.5), it can be seen that the derived 3^{rd} -order transfer function reflects the impact of the DC side circuit on the CSR input resonance.

It is noted that since (2.2) does not include the effects of the CSR DC side circuit, this 2nd-order transfer function can be used to express the ideal case with a large L_d by substituting i_{w1} to the i_w for the entire period T. This is consistent to the conventional analysis methods that assume the DC link current is a constant current source.

In order to illustrate the effects of the DC side circuit on the CSR input resonant frequency ω_{eq} , the bode plots in Figure 2.2 are produced based on (2.2) and (2.5) respectively under the conditions that L_{eq} , R_{eq} , C_{eq} , and R_d are set to be fixed values of 0.1 p.u., 0.0288 p.u., 0.4 p.u., and 0.1 p.u., respectively, and the L_d is given a range of values from 0.4 p.u. to 2 p.u.

With this configuration, if the effects of DC side circuit are neglected according to (2.2), the input LC resonance will happen when the CSR input resonant frequency ω_{eq} is 5 p.u., which is 300Hz (power frequency is 60Hz). Other curves in Figure 2.2 are the bode plots based on (2.5) showing the effects of the CSR DC side circuit on the drifting of CSR input LC resonance. Figure 2.2 shows clearly that the DC inductance can affect the magnitude response of the transfer function



Figure 2.2: Effects of L_d on the input LC resonance



Figure 2.3: Effects of R_d on the input LC resonance

from the PWM current i_w to the line current i_s . It is also indicated in Figure 2.2 that a larger L_d can reduce the effects of DC side circuit on the CSR AC side. Considering L_d is normally in the range of 0.5 to 0.8 p.u. in a CSR system, the effects of DC side circuit can be noticeable and it may be necessary to consider the drifting of CSR input resonance caused by this effect in the filter design.

The DC link resistance (or the equivalent DC resistance when considering a current source drive system with a motor side inverter) can also affect the CSR input LC resonance, as shown in Figure 2.3. It can be seen that an increase of DC resistance can reduce the drifting of the input resonance slightly, while it has significant damping effects on the magnitude response of the transfer function.

From Figure 2.2 and 2.3, it can be concluded that the CSR input resonance can be drifted and will happen with a higher frequency than that of ideal case due to the effects of DC side circuit. And the drifted value can be decreased with the increase of DC inductance and DC resistance. In addition, the input resonance is more sensitive to the DC inductance while the DC resistance has noticeable damping effects on the corresponding transfer function. Therefore, the filter parameters need to be adjusted if necessary to obtain an expected filter performance.

2.2 CSR Input Filter Design Approach

2.2.1 Filter Capacitor Selection

In a CSR system, the line capacitor C_{eq} is required to provide a path for the energy to assist the PWM commutation. The filter cost and the system DPF are two considerations during the filter capacitor selection [42][48].

The cost of the filter can be represented by the total kilovolt-ampere (TKVA) rating of the filter. Considering that in a CSR system, TKVA of the LC filter is



Figure 2.4: CSR Phasor diagram

more capacitive than inductive, the TKVA can be minimized by applying the rule in (2.6) [42].

$$X_{Ceq} = \frac{V_s}{\sqrt[4]{\sum_{h=2}^{\infty} (\frac{I_{wh}}{h})^2 \sum_{h=2}^{\infty} (I_{wh}^2)}}$$
(2.6)

Another consideration of the capacitor selection is the system DPF. The phasor diagram given in Figure 2.4 is obtained based on the assumption that PWM current i_w is synchronized to the capacitor voltage v_c . From Figure 2.4, the displacement angle θ between the grid voltage v_s and the line current i_s can be calculated by (2.7) [42].

$$\theta = \tan^{-1} \frac{V_C}{I_w X_{Ceq}} - \tan^{-1} \frac{X_{Leq} I_w}{V_C (1 - \frac{X_{Leq}}{X_{Ceq}})}$$
(2.7)

where V_c and I_w are the magnitudes of v_c and i_w respectively, X_{Ceq} is the CSR line capacitive reactance determined by the filter capacitor C_f , and X_{Leq} is the CSR line inductive reactance due to the total effects of filter inductance L_f and source inductance L_s .

In most cases, X_{Ceq} is much higher than X_{Leq} , which means that (2.7) can be simplified into (2.8):

$$\theta = \tan^{-1} \frac{V_C}{I_w X_{Ceq}} - \tan^{-1} \frac{X_{Leq} I_w}{V_C}$$
(2.8)

From (2.8), it can be found that a unity DPF can be achieved when θ is zero. Normally the selection of the filter components requires the consideration of both (2.6) and (2.8) to obtain a good DPF performance at a reasonable filter cost.

On the other hand, in the applications of current source drive system, according to [48], the best DPF profile can be obtained when the CSR filter capacitor C_f is selected to be the same as the motor size capacitor C_m . This motor size capacitance can be determined according to the drive system, which is commonly in the range of 0.4 p.u. to 0.7 p.u. in a high-power medium-voltage current source drive system [49]. Therefore, considering that C_{eq} is solely introduced by the CSR filter capacitor C_f , and its value can be determined by the C_m that is commonly known to the designer, the filter capacitor can be selected prior to the inductor. In this work, C_f is set to be 0.4 p.u.

2.2.2 Filter Inductor Selection

The design for the filter inductor L_f can be challenging due to the existence of an unknown source inductance L_s and the impact of the CSR DC side circuit. A procedure for inductor design is proposed and discussed in this section.

It is important to avoid the situation that ω_{eq} is changed to near the harmonic frequencies and CSR input resonance is drifted to the harmonics due to the variation of L_s or the impact of the DC side circuit. Otherwise, the line current THD could be much higher than expected. Therefore, the tolerances of the total equivalent line inductance L_{eq} to the line current harmonic performance have to be studied. The THD curve shown in Figure 2.5 is obtained to illustrate the effects of L_{eq} variation on the line current THD. This curve is obtained by simulation with the CSR model using SHE PWM. Since C_f has been determined in the previous section (0.4 p.u.) and the other system parameters, such as the DC inductor L_d and the modulation



index M_a , are also fixed, the CSR input resonant frequency is affected solely by L_{eq} .

The four noticeable peaks of the line current THD in Figure 2.5 are caused by the input LC resonances due to the 5th, 7th, 11th, and 13th harmonics produced by the PWM current respectively. It can be found in Figure 2.5 that the input LC resonances are drifted to the frequencies lower than 5 p.u., 7 p.u., 11 p.u., and 13 p.u. respectively, which is caused by the impact of the CSR DC side circuit, as explained in Section 2.1.2. It is worth noting in the Figure 2.5 that even though SHE PWM is used, considerable 5th and 7th harmonics exist in the system due to the effects of DC link current ripples.

The procedure for the selection of filter inductance can be derived based on Figure 2.5. There are two constraints in this case. First, in order to fulfill the requirement of the line current THD, the selected filter inductor should be able to achieve a THD below the "Curve of maximum allowed THD". Second, the filter cost and size should be minimized based on the fulfillment of the first constraint. It can be seen in Figure 2.5 that the filter with the resonant frequency ω_f that can hit the "first intersection point" of the curve of maximum allowed THD viewing from the right side of the figure can meet the THD requirement with lowest cost on filter inductance.

It is also found in Figure 2.5 that any filter whose ω_f is close to the right side of these THD peaks will suffer from a high risk of an increased THD when L_s is added into the system, which results in a lower equivalent line resonant frequency ω_{eq} . This issue can be avoided by choosing the intersection point that is close to the left side of the THD peak.

For example, in Figure 2.5, the first intersection point appears when ω_{eq} is 6 p.u.. This ω_{eq} is denoted as ω_{int} in Figure 2.5 indicating the equivalent line resonant frequency ω_{eq} at the intersection point. The corresponding line inductance at the intersection point, denoted as L_{int} , is 0.0694 p.u. with a 0.4 p.u. C_f . This means that to meet the THD requirement, the minimum required L_{eq} is 0.0694 p.u. when C_f is 0.4 p.u. On the other hand, the THD peak on the left side of the first intersection occurs when ω_{eq} is 4.767 p.u., with a 0.11 p.u. L_{eq} . This indicates a critical point of LC resonance at this frequency, which means that no additional L_s is allowed if L_f is designed at this point due to the THD requirement. The corresponding ω_{eq} at the critical point is denoted as " $\omega_{critical}$ " in Figure 2.5.

Therefore, the maximum allowed L_s , which is also the tolerance to the variation of this filter, can be calculated by (2.9) when filter inductor is selected at the first intersection point.

$$L_{tol} = L_{critical} - L_{int} = 0.11 - 0.0694 = 0.0406 p.u.$$
(2.9)

where L_{tol} is the tolerance of L_{eq} , and $L_{critical}$ is the inductance at $\omega_{critical}$. Therefore, the filter inductor L_f can be designed at the first intersection point with L_{int} if its tolerance L_{tol} can cover the possible source inductance L_s variations in the system. Otherwise, the next intersection in the direction to the left is considered.

2.2.3 Proposed Filter Design Procedure and Design Example

The filter design procedure can be derived based on the analysis in the previous two subsections, as shown in Figure 2.6. The proposed LC parameter selection may be an iterative process, which means that with the variation of filter capacitor values, the filter inductor needs to be modified accordingly.

A design example is given in Figure 2.7. In this case, the SHE with four switching frequencies, 7-pulse (420Hz), 9-pulse (540Hz), 11-pulse (660Hz), and 13-pulse (780Hz), are applied, respectively. The filter capacitance C_f is set to be 0.4 p.u. The filter inductance L_f is firstly considered at the first intersection point viewing from the right side. If the corresponding L_{tol} of this intersection point is high enough for the possible L_s variations, the value of filter inductance L_f is designed to be L_{int} . Otherwise, the second or third intersection point is considered.

The results listed in Table 2.1 show that the 7-pulse case can obtain an unlimited L_{tol} at the first intersection point, and the cases of 9-pulse and 11-pulse can have L_{tol} of 0.0406 p.u. and 0.051 p.u. respectively. Considering the typical impedance variation range from 1% to 3%, these tolerances can be used with confidence. Therefore, for these three cases, the filter inductance can be designed to be the corresponding L_{int} at their first intersection points, which are 0.12 p.u., 0.0694 p.u., and 0.057 p.u. respectively.



Figure 2.6: Flow chart of filter design procedure

PWM scheme	ω_{int} (p.u.)	L _{int} (p.u.)	L _{tol} (p.u.)
7-pulse SHE	4.545 (1 st intersection)	0.12	8
9-pulse SHE	6 (1 st intersection)	0.0694	0.0406
11-pulse SHE	6.623 (1 st intersection)	0.057	0.051
12 miles CUE	7.29 (1 st intersection)	0.047	0.003
13-pulse SHE	6.742 (2st intersection)	0.055	0.054
$(C_f=0.4 \text{ p.u.}, L_d=0.8 \text{ p.u.}, R_d=0.1 \text{ p.u.})$			

Table 2.1: Results of the design example

30 7-pulse 9-pulse 25 11-pulse Line current THD (%) 13-pulse 20 15 10 5 Curve of maximum allowed THD 0 7 5 6 8 9 12 13 3 10 11 14 4 Total equivalent line resonant frequency (ω_{eq} p.u.)

Figure 2.7: THD curves for filter inductor design example (C_{eq} =0.4 p.u., L_d =0.8 p.u.)

The 13-pulse case yields the L_{tol} only 0.003 p.u. at its first intersection point, which is not big enough for the possible L_s . And thus, the second intersection is considered, which results in a bigger L_{tol} of 0.054 p.u. Therefore, for the 13-pulse case, the 0.055 p.u. L_{int} is chosen to be the filter inductance L_f .

2.3 Summary

This chapter investigates the CSR input resonance and develops an input filter design strategy. It is found that the input resonance can be drifted due to the variation of the source inductance from the power system and the effects of CSR DC side circuit. A 3rd-order resonance transfer function is derived in this chapter to express the impact from the DC side circuit. The proposed filter design approach based on an accurate CSR model can avoid the resonant frequency drifting.

As mentioned previously, the second effect that affect the CSR line current harmonics is the grid voltage background harmonics (especially the lower order harmonics, which might be amplified by the CSR LC filter) and the DC link current ripples. To address these issues, a SHC PWM technique is proposed and a quasi-online implemented method is developed. The proposed PWM strategy is discussed in the following chapter.
Chapter 3

SHC PWM Design for CSR

This chapter focuses on the PWM scheme design to reduce the CSR line current THD. A new PWM scheme, named Selective Harmonic Compensation (SHC) PWM, which can be used to compensate the background harmonics from grid voltage and the DC current ripples, is proposed in this chapter. The generalized SHC PWM formulations for a current source converter are derived and studied in details. Considering the possible variation of the background harmonics, a quasi-online implementation scheme of the proposed SHC is also developed for real-time and on-line compensation of the 5th background harmonics from the grid voltage.

3.1 Background of SHE Scheme

As mentioned in Chapter 1, the SHE PWM is widely used in high-power CSR to eliminate certain low order harmonics in the PWM current i_w .

However, during practical implementation, the SHE PWM does not always produce a desired line current harmonic performance, due to the background harmonics from the grid voltage and the DC link current harmonics (can be produced by both the rectifier and the inverter in a drive system). Further considering that at low switching frequencies, the size of the CSR input filter is usually large with a filter resonant frequency at around 3-5 times the fundamental frequency. This implies that the grid voltage 5th harmonics can have significant effects on the CSR input current. To improve the system performance considering the above mentioned practical issues, an improved PWM method that can directly regulate the CSR system input line current harmonics would be a better choice, comparing to heavy passive filtering on the ac or DC side.

Recent research interests on the SHE PWM are mainly on the development of algorithms to solve the transcendental equations and to obtain the complete solution of switching angles [50]-[53]. Generally, the methods to obtain proper solutions of the switching angles include iterative based approach, optimization techniques, and neural network technologies [50]-[57]. However, all the methods are developed for SHE schemes with quarter-wave symmetry, which leads to the inability of phase angle control on the certain harmonic components.

The algorithms reported recently in [58]-[61] indicates that the constraint of quarter-wave symmetry can be relaxed, which results in different switching angle solutions as a generalized method to define the problem. Based on the two and three-level waveforms reported in [58] and [59], the reference [60] further study the solution performances and the algorithms for a five-level PWM scheme when both the quarter- and half-wave symmetries are abolished. These non-symmetrical SHE methods are interesting and more flexible for applications. However, these papers mainly focus on the solution algorithms and the algorithms are only valid for voltage source converters (VSC). In addition, these methods are still developed for harmonic elimination applications, and did not address the background grid voltage harmonic issue.

3.2 The Proposed SHC PWM Scheme

To compensate the effects of the harmonics from grid side and DC link on the CSR line current, and therefore directly regulate the line current harmonics, this chapter proposes a SHC PWM scheme. By removing the constraint of quarter-wave symmetry (while the half-wave symmetry is still reserved to eliminate the even order harmonics), the proposed PWM method is able to control harmonic amplitude and phase angle in the PWM current, and can be used for harmonic compensations, like an active power filter. Therefore, by actively compensating the grid harmonic effects, the line current harmonics may be improved significantly without adding additional passive filtering requirements on the AC or DC side.

From the circuit diagram in Figure 1.1, it can be found that the harmonic performance of the CSR line current i_s is affected by both the harmonic components in grid voltage v_s and CSR PWM current i_w . Therefore, the h^{th} -order harmonic in i_s can be expressed as a function of v_s and i_w :

$$i_{sh} = f_h(v_{sh}, i_{wh}) \tag{3.1}$$

where i_{sh} , v_{sh} and i_{wh} are the h^{th} -order harmonic components of i_s , v_s and i_w respectively.

On the other hand, i_w can also affect the harmonics in DC link current i_d . The



Figure 3.1: Relationship diagram of SHC scheme variables

DC link harmonics will in turn affect the accuracy of SHE that is calculated based on an ideal DC current. The relationship among grid voltage harmonics, line current harmonics, PWM current harmonics, and DC current harmonics in a CSR system, and the principle of the proposed SHC PWM are illustrated in Figure 3.1.

As shown in Figure 3.1. The effects of the h^{th} harmonic in PWM current on the line current, denoted as i''_{sh} , can be adjusted by the SHC PWM scheme, and a properly designed i''_{sh} is able to compensate the effect of the h^{th} harmonic in the grid voltage on the line current, denoted as i'_{sh} , accordingly. This compensation can be realized by setting (3.2) to zero.

$$i_{sh} = i'_{sh} + i''_{sh}$$
 (3.2)

which also indicates that the two current harmonics are of the same magnitude and opposite phase angle:

$$I'_{sh} = I''_{sh} \tag{3.3}$$

$$\varphi_{i'_{sh}} + \varphi_{i''_{sh}} = \pm \pi \tag{3.4}$$

where I'_{sh} and I''_{sh} are the magnitude of i'_{sh} and i''_{sh} , while $\varphi_{i'_{sh}}$ and $\varphi_{i''_{sh}}$ are the



Figure 3.2: Traditional SHE PWM pattern (7 pulses per half cycle)

phase angle of i'_{sh} and i''_{sh} , respectively. Specifically, this i''_{sh} designed according to i'_{sh} is the target harmonic in the line current that needs to be generated by PWM pattern, named as "Line Current SHC Reference" and denoted as i''_{sh_ref} in Figure 3.1.

As mentioned earlier, the DC current harmonics $(i_{d(h\pm 1)})$ in Figure 3.1) will also affect the PWM current, and this effect will be discussed in Section 3.3. To realize the SHC PWM, proper design and control of the magnitude and phase angle of certain harmonics in the PWM current is required.

3.3 Waveforms of SHE and SHC in a CSR System

Before the discussion of harmonic compensation details, the typical waveform and harmonic characteristics of the traditional SHE and the required waveform characteristics of the SHC PWM are first analyzed in this section.

3.3.1 Traditional SHE Switching Pattern

Figure 3.2 gives an ideal 7-pulse SHE PWM switching pattern (420Hz switching frequency in a 60Hz system) with three independent switching angles, θ_1 , θ_2 and θ_3 .

According to [62], the PWM current waveform i_w generated by the traditional quarter-wave symmetry SHE scheme is characterized by three constraints.

- 1. The waveform should have quarter-wave and half-wave symmetry.
- 2. On either side of the $\pi/6$ and $5\pi/6$ positions, the pulse pattern must be an inverse mirror image.
- 3. No PWM is permitted in the center $\pi/3$ width of each half-cycle (to avoid PWM zero states and save switching losses).

According to the constraints listed above, the quarter-wave symmetry PWM current waveform with seven pulses per half cycle shown in Figure 3.2 can be obtained by adjusting the three independent PWM switching angles, θ_1 , θ_2 and θ_3 . The other switching angles can be found by (3.5) and (3.6).

$$\theta_4 = \frac{\pi}{3} - \theta_3; \ \theta_5 = \frac{\pi}{3} - \theta_2; \ \theta_6 = \frac{\pi}{3} - \theta_1$$
 (3.5)

$$\alpha_i = \frac{2\pi}{3} + \theta_i, i = 1, 2, \dots, 6 \tag{3.6}$$

The PWM current waveform can thus be expressed by Fourier series as in (3.7).

$$i_w = C_0 + \sum_{h=1}^{\infty} [M_h \sin(h\omega t + \varphi_h)]$$
(3.7)

where C_0 is the DC offset of the PWM current i_w , which equals to zero in this case, h is the harmonic order, and

$$M_h = \sqrt{a_h^2 + b_h^2}$$
(3.8)

$$\varphi_h = \tan^{-1}(\frac{b_h}{a_h}) \tag{3.9}$$

where



Figure 3.3: PWM pattern for SHC (7 pulses per half cycle)

$$a_h = \frac{1}{\pi} \int_0^{2\pi} [i_w(\omega t) \sin(h\omega t)] d(\omega t)$$
(3.10)

$$b_h = \frac{1}{\pi} \int_0^{2\pi} [i_w(\omega t) \cos(h\omega t)] d(\omega t)$$
(3.11)

From the Fourier analysis, it can be seen that with the half-wave symmetry, there is no even order harmonics in the PWM current. On the other hand, quarter-wave symmetry makes b_h in (3.11) always be zero, which means the traditional SHE PWM with quarter-wave symmetry cannot provide phase angle control on the selected harmonics in the PWM current.

3.3.2 Proposed SHC Switching Pattern

The second item of the three constraints of the traditional SHE PWM (the pulse pattern must be an inverse mirror image on either side of $\pi/6$ and $5\pi/6$ positions) attempts to generate the quarter-wave symmetrical PWM waveforms. Therefore, if this constraint is relaxed and the other two constraints are reserved, the PWM waveform will obtain a half-wave symmetrical shape (no quarter-wave symmetry, but still eliminates all even order harmonics), as shown in Figure 3.3.

In Figure 3.3, the 7-pulse PWM waveform has six independent switching angles, θ_1 , θ_2 , θ_3 , θ_4 , θ_5 , and θ_6 , while its counterpart with same switching frequency given in Figure 3.2 has only three independent elements. The other switching angles in the pattern, α_1 , α_2 , α_3 , α_4 , α_5 , and α_6 can be obtained by using (3.6). The pattern in Figure 3.3 still maintains the half-wave symmetry, and guarantees that there will be only two devices conducting without PWM zero state.

The relationship between the harmonic components and the independent switching angles can be derived by (3.10) and (3.11). Specifically:

$$a_{h} = \frac{1}{\pi} \left[\int_{0}^{\pi} [i_{w}(\omega t) \sin(h\omega t)] d(\omega t) \right]$$

$$= \frac{I_{d}}{h\pi} \left[\int_{h\theta_{1}}^{h\theta_{2}} \sin(h\omega t) d(h\omega t) + \int_{h\theta_{3}}^{h\pi} \sin(h\omega t) d(h\omega t) + \int_{h\theta_{4}}^{h\theta_{5}} \sin(h\omega t) d(h\omega t) \right]$$

$$+ \int_{h\theta_{6}}^{h\alpha_{1}} \sin(h\omega t) d(h\omega t) + \int_{h\alpha_{2}}^{h\alpha_{3}} \sin(h\omega t) d(h\omega t) + \int_{\frac{5h\pi}{6}}^{h\alpha_{4}} \sin(h\omega t) d(h\omega t)$$

$$+ \int_{h\alpha_{5}}^{h\alpha_{6}} \sin(h\omega t) d(h\omega t) - \int_{h\pi+h\theta_{1}}^{h\pi+h\theta_{2}} \sin(h\omega t) d(h\omega t) - \int_{h\pi+h\theta_{3}}^{7h\pi} \sin(h\omega t) d(h\omega t)$$

$$- \int_{h\pi+h\theta_{4}}^{h\pi+h\alpha_{4}} \sin(h\omega t) d(h\omega t) - \int_{h\pi+h\alpha_{6}}^{h\pi+h\alpha_{6}} \sin(h\omega t) d(h\omega t) - \int_{h\pi+h\alpha_{2}}^{h\pi+h\alpha_{4}} \sin(h\omega t) d(h\omega t) - \int_{h\pi+h\alpha_{5}}^{h\pi+h\alpha_{6}} \sin(h\omega t) d(h\omega t) - \int_{h\pi+h\alpha_{5}}^{h\pi+h\alpha_{6}} \sin(h\omega t) d(h\omega t) = \int_{h\pi+h\alpha_{5}}^{h\pi+h\alpha_{4}} \sin(h\omega t) d(h\omega t) - \int_{h\pi+h\alpha_{5}}^{h\pi+h\alpha_{6}} \sin(h\omega t) d(h\omega t) - \int_{h\pi+h\alpha_{5}}^{h\pi+h\alpha_{6}} \sin(h\omega t) d(h\omega t) = \int_{h\pi+h\alpha_{5}}^{h\pi+h\alpha_{6}$$

By simplifying (3.12), the generalized (3.13) can be obtained.

$$a_{h} = \frac{4I_{d}}{h\pi} \cos\left(\frac{5h\pi}{6}\right) \cdot \left(1 + \sum_{i=1}^{3} (-1)^{i+1} \left[\cos\left(h\theta_{i} + \frac{5h\pi}{6}\right) + \cos\left(h\theta_{i+3} + \frac{5h\pi}{6}\right)\right]\right)$$

$$h = 1, 5, 7, 11, 13, 17 \dots$$
(3.13)

Similarly,

$$b_{h} = \frac{4I_{d}}{h\pi} \cos\left(\frac{5h\pi}{6}\right) \cdot \left(\sum_{i=1}^{3} (-1)^{i} \cdot \left[\sin\left(h\theta_{i} + \frac{5h\pi}{6}\right) + \sin\left(h\theta_{i+3} + \frac{5h\pi}{6}\right)\right]\right)$$

$$h = 1, 5, 7, 11, 13, 17 \dots$$
(3.14)

Therefore, by substituting (3.13) and (3.14) into (3.8) and (3.9), the expression of h^{th} harmonic of the PWM switching pattern signal, denoted as i_{wh}^* , can be obtained as given in (3.15).

$$i_{wh}^{*} = \frac{i_{wh}}{I_d} = f_{iw-\theta}(\theta_1, \theta_2, \theta_3, \dots, \theta_m)|_h = (\sqrt{a_h^2 + b_h^2}) \sin(h\omega_1 t + \frac{b_h}{a_h}),$$

$$h = 1, 5, 7, 11, 13, 17 \dots$$
(3.15)

where h is the order of the involved harmonic and m is the number of independent PWM switching angles.

From (3.15), it can be found that by removing the constraint of quarter-wave symmetry, the h^{th} harmonic in PWM switching pattern signal can be fully controlled (on both magnitude and phase angle) by adjusting m independent PWM switching angles.

3.4 Calculations for the Nominal PWM Reference

The PWM switching pattern waveform that is required to compensate the h^{th} harmonic on the line current caused by grid voltage is named "Nominal PWM Reference", denoted as $i^*_{wh_ref}$ in this work. This reference is related to the "Line Current SHC Reference" (i''_{sh_ref} in Figure 3.1) through the LC filter. This section illustrates the method to determine the $i^*_{wh_ref}$.

It can be seen in Figure 3.1 that the line current harmonics have two excitation sources, the grid voltage v_s and PWM current i_w . An equivalent circuit of the CSR system is shown in Figure 3.4 (a).

When only the effect of grid voltage is considered, the current source that represents PWM current can be regarded as open circuit, indicating that the system



(a) Two excitation sources of line current harmonics





(b) Effect of grid voltage is considered(c) Effect of PWM current is consideredFigure 3.4: Equivalent circuits of line current harmonic sources

shown in Figure 3.4(a) is working in series LC mode as shown in Figure 3.4(b). Similarly, when only the effect of PWM current is considered, the voltage source is shorted and the system is working in parallel LC mode, as shown in Figure 3.4(c).

From Figure 3.4(b), the effects of harmonics in the grid voltage on the line current can be obtained by the transfer function in (3.16).

$$TS_{is_{vs}} = \frac{i_{sh}}{v_{sh}} = \frac{\left[(C_f h\omega_1) (R_s C_f h\omega_1) \right] + j \left[(C_f h\omega_1) (1 - L_s C_f (h\omega_1)^2) \right]}{\left(1 - L_s C_f (h\omega_1)^2 \right)^2 + \left(R_s C_f h\omega_1 \right)^2}$$
(3.16)

where ω_1 is the fundamental angular frequency, and h is the harmonic order. If the h^{th} harmonic in grid voltage, v_{sh} , is measured, the magnitude and phase angle of the resulted line current harmonic i'_{sh} (denoted as I'_{sh} , and $\varphi_{i'_{sh}}$ respectively), can be determined as shown in (3.17) and (3.18).

$$I'_{sh} = \left| TS_{is_vs} \right| \cdot V_{sh} \tag{3.17}$$

$$\varphi_{i'_{sh}} = \varphi_{TS_{is_vs}} + \varphi_{vsh} \tag{3.18}$$

where

$$|TS_{is_vs}| = \frac{C_f h\omega_1}{\sqrt{\left(1 - L_s C_f (h\omega_1)^2\right)^2 + \left(R_s C_f h\omega_1\right)^2}}$$
(3.19)

and

$$\varphi_{TS_{is_{vs}}} = tan^{-1} \left(\frac{1 - L_s C_f (h\omega_1)^2}{R_s C_f h\omega_1}\right)$$
(3.20)

On the other hand, from Figure 3.4 (c), the effect of the harmonics in PWM current on the line current can be determined by (3.21).

$$TS_{is_iw} = \frac{i_{sh}}{i_{wh}} = \frac{\left(1 - L_s C_f (h\omega_1)^2\right) - j\left(R_s C_f h\omega_1\right)}{(1 - L_s C_f (h\omega_1)^2)^2 + (R_s C_f h\omega_1)^2}$$
(3.21)

Therefore, the resulted line current harmonic i''_{sh} caused by the PWM current i_w can be found as:

$$I_{sh}^{\prime\prime} = \left| TS_{is_iw} \right| \cdot I_{wh} \tag{3.22}$$

$$\varphi_{i''_{sh}} = \varphi_{iwh} + \varphi_{TS_{is_iw}} \tag{3.23}$$

where

$$|TS_{is_{iw}}| = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\left(1 - L_s C_f (h\omega_1)^2\right)^2 + \left(R_s C_f h\omega_1\right)^2}}$$
(3.24)

and

$$\varphi_{TS_{is_{iw}}} = tan^{-1} \left(-\frac{R_s C_f h \omega_1}{1 - L_s C_f (h \omega_1)^2}\right)$$
(3.25)

As illustrated in (3.2), (3.3), and (3.4), the line current harmonic compensation is realized when i''_{sh} equals to the "Line Current SHE Reference" i''_{sh_ref} , which can be found in (3.26) and (3.27).

$$I_{sh}^{''} = I_{sh_ref}^{''} = I_{sh}^{'} = |TS_{is_vs}| \cdot V_{sh}$$
(3.26)

$$\varphi_{i'sh} = \varphi_{i'sh_ref} = \varphi_{i'sh} \pm \pi = \varphi_{TS_{is_vs}} + \varphi_{vsh} \pm \pi$$
(3.27)

Therefore, by substituting (3.17), (3.18), (3.22), and (3.23) into (3.26) and (3.27),

and solving the corresponding equations, the PWM current, which contains the designed h^{th} harmonic compensating the effects of grid voltage h^{th} harmonic and resulting in zero h^{th} harmonic in the line current, can be obtained. Considering (3.15), the corresponding nominal PWM Reference $i^*_{wh_ref}$ can thus be determined as in (3.28), (3.29), and (3.30).

$$i_{wh_ref}^* = I_{wh_ref}^* \sin(h\omega_1 t + \varphi_{iwh_ref}^*)$$
(3.28)

where

$$I_{wh_ref}^* = \frac{|TS_{is_vs}|}{|TS_{is_iw}|} \cdot \frac{V_{sh}}{I_d}$$
(3.29)

$$\varphi_{iwh_ref}^* = \varphi_{TS_{is_vs}} - \varphi_{TS_{is_iw}} + \varphi_{vsh} \pm \pi$$
(3.30)

The above analysis shows that by properly designing m independent PWM switching angles, the harmonic effect of the grid voltage on the line current can be compensated by the proposed SHC scheme.

3.5 Effects of DC Link Current Harmonics

As has mentioned, the DC link current harmonics will also affect the harmonic elimination or compensation accuracy. In this section, this effect is first investigated. A compensation method is then proposed.

3.5.1 DC Current Harmonics

Combining the AC and DC sides of a CSR, the equivalent circuit and the reference directions of the signals in the per phase system are shown in Figure 3.5.

It can be found that the DC voltage v_d and the CSR capacitor voltage v_c , which is also the rectifier three-phase input voltage, are coupled by the PWM



Figure 3.5: Equivalent circuit for DC current ripple analysis

switching pattern signal s_{PWM} . The v_d can be expressed by (3.31).

$$v_d = s_{PWM-abc} \cdot v_{c-abc}{}^T \tag{3.31}$$

where

$$s_{PWM-abc} = [s_a, s_b, s_c] \tag{3.32}$$

and

$$v_{c-abc} = [v_{ca}, v_{cb}, v_{cc}]$$
(3.33)

The convolution theorem yields (3.34).

$$\mathcal{F}(v_d) = \mathcal{F}(s_{PWM-abc} \cdot v_{c-abc}^T) = \mathcal{F}(s_{PWM-abc}) \star \mathcal{F}(v_{c-abc}^T)$$
(3.34)

Note that the Fourier transformation is based on (3.35).

$$\mathcal{F}(\omega_1)_h = \frac{1}{2} |M_h| e^{j\varphi_h} \tag{3.35}$$

where ω_1 is the fundamental angular frequency, and $|M_h|$ and φ_h are the magnitude and phase angle of the h^{th} harmonic component respectively.

According to the discrete convolution theorem, (3.36) can be obtained based on (3.34).

$$\mathcal{F}(v_d)_h = \sum_{k=-\infty}^{\infty} \mathcal{F}(s_{PWM-abc})_k \cdot \mathcal{F}(v_{c-abc}{}^T)_{h-k}$$
(3.36)

where h and k are integers indicating harmonic orders.

Due to the fact that the magnitude of the fundamental of the PWM switching pattern signal $s_{PWM-abc}$ is very close to the PWM modulation index M_a (unity in this work with delay angle control), the magnitudes of the harmonic components of the PWM switching pattern signal are normally much smaller than unity. Therefore, only the fundamental component of $s_{PWM-abc}$ is considered, while its harmonic components are neglected, which means that the integer k in (3.36) can only be 1 or -1.

The DC component of the DC voltage v_d can be found by setting h=0, as shown in (3.37).

$$\mathcal{F}(v_d)_0 = \mathcal{F}(s_{PWM-abc})_1 \cdot \mathcal{F}(v_{c-abc}^T)_{-1} + \mathcal{F}(s_{PWM-abc})_{-1} \cdot \mathcal{F}(v_{c-abc}^T)_1 \quad (3.37)$$

Considering (3.35), the DC component v_{d0} can be determined based on (3.37), which yields (3.38):

$$v_{d0} = 6m_a |v_{ca1}| \cos(\varphi_{sa1} - \varphi_{vca1})$$
(3.38)

Note that in a CSR system, the low-order 5th and 7th harmonics are typically the dominant harmonics. Therefore, their effects are considered.

First, when only the 5th harmonic component in v_c is considered, the integers h and k in (3.36) can be obtained as shown in (3.39).

$$\begin{cases} k = \pm 1 \\ (h-k) = \pm 5 \end{cases} \xrightarrow{\text{yields}} \begin{cases} case1: (k,h) = (1,-4) \\ case2: (k,h) = (-1,4) \\ case3: (k,h) = (1,6) \\ case4: (k,h) = (-1,-6) \end{cases}$$
(3.39)

It can be found from (3.39) that only 4th and 6th harmonics in v_d are involved due to the 5th harmonic in v_c .

• Case 1: when h = -4,

$$\mathcal{F}(v_{d})_{-4} = \mathcal{F}(s_{PWM-abc})_{1} \cdot \mathcal{F}(v_{c-abc})_{-5}$$
$$= (\frac{1}{4}|M_{a}||V_{c5}|(e^{j(\varphi_{s1}-\varphi_{vc5})} + e^{j(\varphi_{s1}-\varphi_{vc5}-4\pi/3)} + e^{j(\varphi_{s1}-\varphi_{vc5}+4\pi/3)}) = 0$$
(3.40)

• Case 2, when h = 4, similarly,

$$\mathcal{F}(v_d)_4 = \mathcal{F}(s_{PWM-abc})_{-1} \cdot \mathcal{F}(v_{c-abc}{}^T)_5$$
(3.41)

Therefore, (3.40) and (3.41) yield (3.42).

$$v_{d4} = 0$$
 (3.42)

which means that there is no 4th harmonic exists in DC link voltage due to the 5th harmonic in v_c .

 $\blacksquare \quad \text{Case 3, When } h = 6,$

$$\mathcal{F}(v_d)_6 = \mathcal{F}(s_{PWM-abc})_1 \cdot \mathcal{F}(v_{c-abc}{}^T)_5 = \frac{3}{4} |M_a| |V_{c5}| e^{j(\varphi_{s1} + \varphi_{vc5})}$$
(3.43)

• Case 4, when h = -6,

$$\mathcal{F}(v_d)_{-6} = \mathcal{F}(s_{PWM-abc})_{-1} \cdot \mathcal{F}(v_{c-abc}^{T})_{-5} = \frac{3}{4} |M_a| |V_{c5}| e^{j(\varphi_{s1} + \varphi_{vc5})}$$
(3.44)

Therefore, (3.43) and (3.44) yield (3.45).

$$v_{d6}^{(vc5)} = \frac{3}{2} m_a V_{ca5} \cos(6\omega_1 t + \varphi_{s1} + \varphi_{vc5})$$
(3.45)

which means that the 6th harmonic produced by the 5th harmonic in v_c can be expressed by (3.45).

Similarly, considering the effect of the 7th harmonic component in v_c only, (3.46) can be obtained to express the corresponding 6th harmonic in DC voltage. Note that there is no 8th harmonic in DC link voltage either.

$$v_{d6}^{(\nu c7)} = \frac{3}{2} m_a V_{ca7} \cos(6\omega_1 t - \varphi_{s1} + \varphi_{\nu c7})$$
(3.46)

Following the above analysis, it can be concluded that the DC voltage v_d has the $(6n)^{\text{th}}$ order harmonic components that are caused by the $(6n \pm 1)^{\text{th}}$ harmonics in v_c . n here is an integer.

The DC link current can be determined by the transfer function given in (3.47), and can be expressed as (3.48).

$$TS_{id_vd} = \frac{i_{dh}}{v_{dh}} = \frac{R_d - j(h\omega L_d)}{(h\omega L_d)^2 + {R_d}^2}$$
(3.47)

$$i_{dh} = \left| TS_{id_vd} \right| \cdot V_{dh} \sin(h\omega_1 t + \varphi_{vdh} + \delta_{id-vd})$$
(3.48)

where

$$|TS_{id_vd}| = \frac{1}{\sqrt{(h\omega L_d)^2 + R_d^2}}$$
(3.49)

$$\delta_{id-vd} = tan^{-1} \frac{(-h\omega L_d)}{R_d}$$
(3.50)

Therefore, the DC current also has $(6n)^{\text{th}}$ harmonic, and a larger DC inductor L_d or DC resistor R_d can reduce its magnitude.

3.5.2 Effects of the 6th DC Current Harmonics

The effects of the harmonics in DC current on the three-phase PWM current can be illustrated by (3.51). Note that only phase A is studied in this case with the assumption of a three-phase balanced system.

$$i_{wa} = s_a \cdot i_d \tag{3.51}$$

According to convolution theorem,

$$\mathcal{F}(i_{wa}) = \mathcal{F}(s_a) \star \mathcal{F}(i_d)$$
(3.52)

Thus,

$$\mathcal{F}(i_{wa})_{h} = \sum_{k=-\infty}^{\infty} \mathcal{F}(s_{a})_{k} \cdot \mathcal{F}(i_{d})_{h-k}$$
(3.53)

Similar to the derivation in the previous section, the 5^{th} and 7^{th} harmonics in the PWM current caused by the 6^{th} harmonic in DC current can be derived, as shown in (3.54) and (3.55) respectively.

$$i_{wa5}^{(id6)} = \frac{1}{2} m_a I_{d6} \cos(5\omega_1 t - \varphi_{s1} + \varphi_{id6})$$
(3.54)

$$i_{wa7}^{(id6)} = \frac{1}{2} m_a I_{d6} \cos(7\omega_1 t + \varphi_{s1} + \varphi_{id6})$$
(3.55)

Assuming $i_{wa5,7}^{(PWM)}$ is the 5th or 7th harmonic components in PWM current that is generated by the PWM scheme, the total actual PWM current $i_{wa5,7}$ considering the effect of the DC ripples can be determined by (3.56).

$$i_{wah} = i_{wah}^{(PWM)} + i_{wah}^{(id6)}$$

$$=I_{wah}^{(PWM)}\cos\left(h\omega_{1}t+\varphi_{iwh}^{(PWM)}\right)+I_{wah}^{(id6)}\cos\left(h\omega_{1}t+\varphi_{iwh}^{(id6)}\right), where h = 5 \text{ or } 7 (3.56)$$

3.6 Off-Line SHC Angle Calculation Algorithms

3.6.1 SHC Switching Angle Calculation Algorithm

There are many methods for the calculation of PWM switching angles for a SHE PWM [50]-[62]. For the proposed SHC PWM, since the line current harmonics are directly controlled with consideration of source voltage and DC link harmonics, the elimination of harmonics may not be necessary and minimization of line current THD is preferred.

As discussed earlier, the line current harmonics are introduced by three factors: 1) grid voltage harmonics, 2) PWM current harmonics, and 3) DC link current ripples. Therefore, the THD of CSR line current can be illustrated by (3.57).

$$THD_{i_s} = f_{THD}(v_{s_harmonics}; i_{w_harmonics}; i_{d_harmonics})$$
(3.57)

where the grid voltage harmonics, $v_{s_harmonics}$, and the DC current ripples, $i_{d_harmonics}$, can be measured. On the other hand, the harmonics in PWM current, $i_{w_harmonics}$, can be determined by the *m* independent PWM switching angles according to the function $f_{iw-\theta}(\theta_1, \theta_2, \theta_3, ..., \theta_m)$, as given by (3.28). Therefore, (3.58) can be obtained.

$$THD_{i_s} = f_{THD-\theta}(\theta_1, \theta_2, \theta_3, \dots, \theta_m)|_{v_{s \text{ harmonics}}; i_d \text{ harmonics}}$$
(3.58)

The function $f_{THD-\theta}$ given by (3.58) is an important expression which indicates that if the harmonics of v_s and i_d is measurable, the relationship between the line current THD and the independent PWM switching angles can be expressed by a non-linear function, whose inputs are the independent PWM switching angles and the output is the line current THD.

Figure 3.6 illustrates the relationships between the parameters. It can be found in the figure that the h^{th} -order line current harmonic i_{sh} can be expressed by (3.2).



Figure 3.6: Algorithms of SHC PWM scheme

Therefore, the PWM switching angle can be obtained by minimizing the line current THD function in (3.58). This minimization (or optimization) can be done in Matlab optimization function. It is important to note that although the algorithm is for line current THD minimization, the certain harmonic elimination can be easily achieved by adding a weighting factor on that harmonics in the THD function as done in this work. With a sufficiently large weighting factor, the harmonic will be eliminated after the THD minimization.

3.6.2 Constraint Conditions of the SHC Algorithm

For the line current THD minimization, a few switching constraints for the CSR is required. This section lists the constraints for a SHC PWM with N-pulse per half cycle. According to the waveform pattern shown in Figure 3.3, the pulse number

N has the relationship with the number of independent PWM switching angles given in (3.59). Note that without PWM zero states, N is an odd number.

$$N = m + 1 \tag{3.59}$$

Four constraints for the SHC PWM scheme for CSR application can be found as follows.

- 1. The distance between two neighboring switching angles, $\Delta \theta$, should be higher than the PWM resolution.
- 2. $0 < \theta_i < \frac{\pi}{6}$, when $i \in \left\{1, \dots, \frac{m}{2}\right\}$ 3. $\frac{\pi}{6} < \theta_i < \frac{\pi}{3}$, when $i \in \left\{\frac{m}{2}, \dots, N\right\}$
- 4. The PWM fundamental phase angle should be fixed.

The first constraint is to obtain a PWM waveform that can be realized by an actual CSR switching device. Any $\Delta\theta$ that is smaller than the PWM resolution could lead to inaccurate PWM output. The second and third constraints are derived from the definition of the SHE PWM with non-quarter-symmetry, as shown in Figure 3.3.

The fourth constraint is related to the DC current control. To illustrate this, (3.60) can be used to express the DC current.

$$I_d = \sqrt{3/2} V_{ll} R_d M_a \cos \alpha \tag{3.60}$$

When the modulation index M_a of the PWM is unity (by selecting $a_1=1$ and $b_1=0$ in (3.13) and (3.14)), the DC current can be solely controlled by the delay angle α . Therefore, the fourth constraint that freezes the phase angle of the generated PWM current fundamental component to be a constant (zero in this work) is necessary to avoid the interference between the fundamental phase angle and the delay angle (α) and therefore maintain a stable DC current transient performance when the PWM switching angles are updated corresponding to a change of grid harmonics.



Figure 3.7: SHC PWM scheme implementation

3.7 Quasi-Online SHC PWM Implementation

Scheme

Finally, the CSR system using SHC PWM scheme can be designed based on the proposed algorithm, as given by Figure 3.7. The DC link current is adjusted by the closed-loop delay angle control, which enable the use of a PWM with fixed modulation index (where switching losses can be reduced without zero states). The harmonic components are measured by Sliding DFT (SDFT) technology [63]-[66], which is suitable for real-time implementation.



Figure 3.8: SHC quasi-online implementation for real-time applications

The block "PWM Switching Angle Calculator" shown in Figure 3.7 is the key part for SHC implementation. From (3.28), (3.29), and (3.30), it can be seen that all the system parameters required by the calculation algorithm of independent PWM switching angles can be measured online and normalized into the Nominal PWM Reference $i_{wh,ref}^*$. However, to update the SHC switching angles to compensate the grid voltage harmonics variations in real time, the THD minimization calculation cannot be implemented directly. Therefore, a quasi-online implementation SHC scheme for real-time applications can be developed in this section, as shown in Figure 3.8.

First, the independent switching angles can be calculated with pre-determined Nominal PWM Reference $i_{wh_ref}^*$, and all the angles can be obtained by using the off-line algorithms discussed in the previous section, and saved into the "SHC Switching Angle Look-Up Table". For each harmonic to be compensated, this is a two-dimension table related to both the reference harmonic magnitude and phase angle. With the determined look-up table, the desired switching angles can be indexed online by the magnitude and phase angle of $i_{wh_ref}^*$.

Note that if more harmonics are to be compensated, the look-up table becomes multi-dimensional and may need considerable memory storage. However, considering that the grid voltage are mostly polluted with 5th and 7th harmonics, and the fact that the CSR input LC filter may not be able to mitigate the 5th harmonic, the compensation of 5th grid voltage harmonic therefore has the first priority. Figure 3.9 shows the plots of the switching angles associated with various Nominal PWM References $i_{wh,ref}^*$ when only 5th harmonic in grid voltage is selected to be compensated in the system. It can be seen from the figures that the PWM switching angles obtained by the designed algorithm have smooth trends with the changing of PWM References $i_{wh,ref}^*$. For this reason, interpolation technique can be used when using the look-up table.

3.8 Summary

This Chapter proposes a new SHC PWM scheme for a CSR system to compensate the background harmonics from grid voltage. First, the generalized formulations for SHC scheme waveforms are derived. Then, the SHC PWM algorithms are developed and the CSR system control scheme using the proposed SHC scheme and closed-loop delay angle control is designed. Considering the variations of grid voltage harmonics, a quasi-online SHC control scheme is also developed for real-time applications. The effectiveness of the SHC PWM method proposed in this chapter, together with the CSR input filter design approach in Chapter 2, have been verified through computer simulations and hardware experiments. The simulation and experimental results are shown in Chapter 4 and Chapter 5 respectively.



(e) Angle 5 (θ_5) v.s. $i_{wh_ref}^*$ (f) Angle 6 (θ_6) v.s. $i_{wh_ref}^*$ Figure 3.9: SHC look-up tables (for 5th harmonic compensation)

Chapter 4

Simulation Results

This chapter presents the simulations that are carried out in Matlab/Simulink to verify the proposed filter design methods and the SHC PWM schemes. First, the simulation parameters for both cases are selected according to a practical high-power CSR system. For the verifications on the filter design method proposed in Chapter 2, four simulations with various filter sizes are performed and the results are discussed in details. Furthermore, another three simulations based on three different PWM schemes, which are the traditional SHE, the SHC without compensation of the DC ripple effects, and the SHC with compensation of the DC ripple effects, are carried out to verify the performance of the SHC PWM scheme proposed in Chapter 3.

Parameter	For filter design verification	For SHC PWM verification		
Rated power	1.0 MVA	1.0 MVA		
Rated voltage (line-line)	4160 V	4160 V		
Fundamental frequency	60 Hz	60 Hz		
DC link inductance L_d	0.8 p.u.	0.8 p.u.		
DC load resistance R_d	0.1 p.u.	0.1 p.u.		
Line inductance L_{eq}	Various	0.13 p.u.		
Line capacitance C_{eq}	0.4 p.u.	0.4 p.u.		
PWM scheme	9-pulse SHE	7-pulse SHE, SHC		

Table 4.1: System parameters for simulations

4.1 Simulations of the Proposed Filter Design

Method

The simulation parameters for this case can be found in Table 4.1. The first simulation is to show the drifting of the input resonance corresponding to the 5^{th} -order harmonic from the PWM current. The results are shown in Figure 4.1(a) and (b).

Theoretically, if C_{eq} is 0.4 p.u., the input LC resonance corresponding to the 5th-order harmonic should happen when L_{eq} is 0.1 p.u. with the equivalent line resonant frequency ω_{eq} of 5 p.u. However, the simulated results show that the line current THD is only 3.643% with this condition indicating that no resonance occurs. On the other hand, the input LC resonance happens when ω_{eq} is 4.767 p.u. with a 0.11 p.u. L_{eq} , resulting in a jump of line current THD to 8.097% (higher



Figure 4.2: i_s and v_c of filter design simulation case 2 (a) $L_{eq}=0.051$ p.u. $C_{eq}=0.4$ p.u., $\omega_{eq}=7$ p.u., THD=7.622%, (b) $L_{eq}=0.054$ p.u. $C_{eq}=0.4$ p.u., $\omega_{eq}=6.804$ p.u., THD=28.61%

	$C_{eq} = 0.4 { m p.u}, \ L_d = 0.8 { m p.u},$							
order	Using 2nd-order		Using derived 3 rd -order					
	function (2.2)		function (2.5)		Simulation results (p.u.)			
	$* \omega_{eq}^{res}$	** L ^{res}	ω_{eq}^{res}	***Δ ω	L_{eq}^{res}	ω_{eq}^{res}	$\Delta \omega$	L_{eq}^{res}
5 th	5	0.1	4.767	0.233	0.110	4.714	0.286	0.1125
7 th	7	0.051	6.804	0.196	0.054	6.798	0.202	0.0541
11 th	11	0.0207	10.911	0.089	0.021	10.859	0.141	0.0212
13 th	13	0.0148	12.910	0.090	0.015	12.910	0.090	0.0150

Table 4.2: Simulation verifications of the input resonance drifting

* $ω_{eq}^{res}$: the CSR total line resonant frequency that results in a input resonance; ** L_{eq}^{res} : the L_{eq} at $ω^{res}$; *** Δ ω: the drifted frequency

than the 5% maximum allowed THD). This means that the input resonance corresponding to the 5th-order harmonic is drifted from 5p.u. to 4.767 p.u.. Similarly, the drifting around 7th-order harmonic is verified by the simulation results shown in Figure 4.2(a) and (b). In this case, the LC resonance does not occur when ω_{eq} is 7 p.u. with 0.051 p.u. L_{eq} and 0.4 p.u. C_{eq} , but at 6.804 p.u. with a 0.054 p.u. L_{eq} and 0.4 p.u. C_{eq} instead, where the THD jumps from 7.622% to 28.61%.

Table 4.2 summarizes the results of the input resonance drifting obtained from the simulation and the transfer functions (2.2) and (2.5). It can be seen clearly from this table that compared to the 2^{nd} -order transfer function in (2.2), the 3^{rd} -order one (2.5) gives more accurate results according to the simulation results, which means that by using the 3^{rd} -order transfer function, a filter with more predictable performance can be obtained and the unexpected line current THD peaks could thus be avoid. Therefore, the derived 3^{rd} -order transfer function (2.5) is verified by the simulations.

4.2 Simulations of the Proposed SHC PWM Scheme

The parameters for this set of simulations are also given in Table 4.1. Three simulation cases with different PWM schemes are carried out in this section under the same grid condition, which is 2% 5th and 2% 7th background harmonics in the grid voltage. The three simulation cases are:

Simulation Case 1: Traditional SHE

Simulation Case 2: SHC without compensation of the effects of DC link ripples Simulation Case 3: SHC with compensation of the effects of DC link ripples In these simulations, 2% 5th and 2% 7th harmonics (whose phase angles are

randomly to be 10° and 170° respectively) are programmed into the grid voltage, and both harmonics are to be compensated by the designed SHC PWM scheme. The off-line THD minimization algorithm (in Chapter 3) is used to verify the effectiveness of the proposed SHC principle. (The developed real-time implementation method in Chapter 3 is tested later in the experiments in Chapter 5.)

Figure 4.3 and Figure 4.4 show the waveforms and harmonic spectra of line current and PWM current of the three simulation cases, respectively. The simulation results are summarized in Table 4.3. The details of these results are explained in the following subsections.



Figure 4.3: i_s waveforms and spectra of SHC simulations

(a) Simulation Case 1, (b) Simulation Case 2, (c) Simulation Case 3



Figure 4.4: i_w waveforms and spectra of SHC simulations (a) Simulation Case 1, (b) Simulation Case 2, (c) Simulation Case 3

		Corr 1		Case 2 SHC without		Case 3 SHC with	
	Case 1 Traditional SHE		compensation of effects		compensation of effects		
			of DC ripples		of DC ripples		
	THD	17.26%		8.22%		4.35%	
	Fund. (peak)	123.5 (A)		124.6 (A)		122.4 (A)	
1 _S	5th harmonic	9.98(A)	$I_5/I_1 = 16.18\%$	8.91 (A)	$I_5/I_1 = 7.15\%$	0.87 (A)	$I_5/I_1 = 0.71\%$
	7th harmonic	5.54(A)	$I_7/I_1 = 4.49\%$	1.46 (A)	<i>I₇/I₁</i> =1.17%	0.62 (A)	<i>I₇</i> / <i>I</i> ₁ =0.51%
	THD	52.75%		55.12%		52.30%	
	Fund. (peak)	194.3 (A)		195.5 (A)		193.2 (A)	
1 _w	5th harmonic	2.48 (A)	$I_5/I_1 = 1.28\%$	11.9 (A)	<i>I</i> ₅ / <i>I</i> ₁ =6.07%	8.34 (A)	<i>I₅</i> / <i>I</i> ₁ =4.32%
	7th harmonic	2.31 (A)	<i>I₇/I</i> ₁ =1.19%	7.43 (A)	I_7/I_1 =3.8%	10.6 (A)	<i>I₇/I</i> ₂ =5.50%
	DC comp.	190.1 (A)		189.9 (A)		190.2 (A)	
¹ d	6th harmonic	3.57 (A)		7.83 (A)		5.26 (A)	

Table 4.3: Simulation results of SHC scheme verification

4.2.1 Case 1: Traditional SHE

First, the traditional SHE eliminating 5th and 7th harmonics in PWM current is applied. Figure 4.3 (a) gives the line current waveform and its harmonic spectrum. It can be found that the 5th and 7th harmonics in the line current are significant $(I_3/I_1=16.18\%, I_7/I_1=4.49\%)$, which make a 17.26% line current THD, due to the fact that the tradition SHE scheme is not able to eliminate grid voltage harmonics, although the 5th and 7th harmonics in PWM current has been eliminated greatly $(I_3/I_1=1.28\%, I_7/I_1=1.19\%)$. Figure 4.4 (a) gives the waveform and harmonic spectrum of the PWM current in this case. The remained certain values of the 5th and 7th harmonics in PWM current ripples, which can be explained and calculated by (3.54) and (3.55). The numerical results of Simulation Case 1 can be found in Table 4.3.

4.2.2 Case 2: SHC without Compensation of DC Ripple Effects

In this case, the SHC PWM scheme without compensation of i_d ripple effects is applied (to be compared with Simulation Case 3 with compensation of i_d ripple effects). According to the SHC implementation shown in Figure 3.7, the switching angles are calculated by the "PWM switching angle calculator", where the algorithm in Chapter 3 is used in the simulation.

Figure 4.3 (b) shows the line current waveform and its harmonic spectrum. And the PWM current waveform and its harmonic spectrum are shown in Figure 4.4 (b).

Compared to the SHE PWM current obtained by Simulation Case1, the SHC PWM current in Simulation Case 2 has noticeable 5th and 7th harmonics (5th $I_5/I_1=6.07\%$, 7th $I_7/I_1=3.8\%$), which are intentionally produced to compensate the effects of grid voltage harmonics. The THD of line current obtained by Simulation Case 2 has a much better performance (8.22%), compared to its counterpart in Simulation Case 1 (17.26%). Therefore, the advantage of the SHC scheme is obvious compared to the traditional SHE scheme.

Numerical results of Simulation Case 2 are also listed in Table 4.3. It can be seen that the magnitude of the 6th harmonic component in DC current i_d is 7.83A, which is higher than the 3.57A in Simulation Case 1. This is expected due to the boost of the 5th and 7th harmonics in PWM current, which increases the corresponding harmonics in capacitor voltage v_c . And thus, according to (3.45) and (3.46), the 6th harmonic component in DC voltage v_d is increased which leads to a higher i_{d6} . To verify the effects of the DC current ripples in this case, the PWM current considering the impacts of DC current ripples can be determined by (3.56). which yields:

$$i_{wa5} = i_{wa5}^{(PWM)} + i_{wa5}^{(id6)} = 11.71 \sin(5\omega_1 t - 83.89^\circ)$$
(4.1)

$$i_{wa7} = i_{wa7}^{(PWM)} + i_{wa7}^{(id6)} = 7.13 \sin(5\omega_1 t + 70.92^\circ)$$
(4.2)

The calculated magnitudes of 5^{th} and 7^{th} harmonics, 11.71A and 7.13A, are very close to the simulation results, which are 11.9A and 7.43A respectively. Therefore, it can be concluded that the expression (3.54), (3.55), and (3.56) are verified by the simulations.

From this simulation case, it can be seen that if the DC current ripples are neglected in the SHC scheme, the DC inductor could become more important on the line current THD since a bigger DC inductor can help to produce a smoother DC current with lower i_{d6} and eventually reduce the 5th and 7th harmonics in the line current.

4.2.3 Case 3: SHC with Compensation of DC Ripple effects

Simulation Case 3 is run with the compensation of both the background grid voltage harmonics and DC link harmonics. Figure 4.3 (c) shows the line current waveform and its harmonic spectrum, and numerical details of this simulation results are listed in Table 4.3. Figure 4.4 (c) gives the waveforms and spectra of PWM current in Simulation Case 3.

From the results obtained by Simulation Case 3, it can be seen that the THD performance of line current becomes excellent, which is 4.35%, compared to the counterparts obtained by the previous simulations (17.26% with traditional SHE in Simulation Case 1 and 8.22% with SHC scheme without DC link harmonic compensation in Simulation Case 2). Note that the difference between Simulation Case 2 and Case 3 is the compensation of DC link harmonics, and this difference will be reduced when a sufficiently large DC link inductor is selected as it smoothen

the DC link harmonics. It can also be seen that since the effects of DC current ripples is considered by the scheme, the 5^{th} and 7^{th} harmonics in the PWM current generated by SHC are 4.32% and 5.50% respectively, which are different compared to the ones in Simulation Case 2, which are 6.07% and 3.8% respectively, as shown in Figure 4.4.

4.3 Summary

This Chapter provides simulation verifications on the filter design methods proposed in Chapter 2 and the developed SHC PWM scheme in Chapter 3. The results show that compared to the 2nd-order transfer function used by traditional filter design methods, the proposed 3rd-order transfer function, which includes the CSR DC side circuit effects, is a more accurate model. On the other hand, the simulations for the SHC PWM method verification clearly show that the proposed SHC PWM scheme can compensate the effects of grid voltage background harmonics and improve the line current THD like an active power filter. Note that this compensation is realized without any additional passive filtering cost for a CSR system. Further verifications of the filter design approach, the proposed SHC PWM and its quasi-online real-time implementation method are also conducted on the constructed hardware CSR prototype, and the results are present in Chapter 5.

Chapter 5

Experimental Verifications

To experimentally verify the proposed filter design methods, the SHC PWM schemes, and the quasi-online PWM implementation method, a 10 kVA hardware CSR prototype controlled by a dSAPCE/CPLD system is designed and built during this M.Sc research. Most parameters for the CSR prototype are proportionally scaled down from the high-power CSR system in Chapter 4 with the same p.u. values. The hardware CSR parameters are listed in Table 5.1. The experimental results of both the proposed filter design method and the SHC PWM scheme are discussed and analyzed in details in this chapter.

Parameter	For filter design verification	For SHC PWM verification		
Rated power	10 kVA	10 kVA		
Rated voltage (line-line)	208 V	208 V		
Fundamental frequency	60 Hz	60 Hz		
DC link inductance L_d	0.74 p.u.	1.74 p.u.		
DC load resistance R_d	1.15 p.u.	2.3 p.u.		
Line inductance L_{eq}	Various	0.145 p.u.		
Line capacitance C_{eq}	0.4 p.u.	0.4 p.u.		
PWM scheme	7-pulse	7-pulse		

Table 5.1: System parameters for experiments

5.1 The Setup of CSR Prototype and Control

System

To carry out the experimental verifications, a 10 kVA CSR prototype is constructed in this work as shown in Figure 5.1. The CSR main power converter bridge is composed of six IGCTs produced by ABB, whose rated voltage and rated current are 6000V and 800A, respectively. Note that since lower rating current source converter switching device are not available in the market, these high-power switches, which are donated by Rockwell Automation Canada, are used in the CSR prototype. Six independent linear power supplies are applied to provide 20 V required by the IGCT devices. The IGCTs are installed into a switch cage suitable for press pack mounting, where a heat sink is placed between every two switches. Note that necessary insulation has to be added between some press packed devices to make sure a single switch cage (with six IGCTs) can be used for a full converter bridge



Figure 5.1: Experimental CSR prototype

(instead of a single phase leg in a high-power CSR where three IGCTs are in series as one high voltage switch unit).

The CSR control platform is designed based on a dSPACE(DS1103)-CPLD system. Details of this control platform are shown in Figure 5.2. The DS1103 is a real-time simulator from dSPACE to generate the control signals according to the designed Simulink model in Matlab. To handle the control algorithms of closed-loop current regulation in a CSR (and even more complex drive control when another motor side converter is included) and the fine step size requirement for accurate PWM signal generation, multiple rate control is adopted in the dSPACE, where the main CSR control, including PLL, delay angle control, harmonic current/voltage detection, software over current/voltage protection etc., are running at 6kHz, while the PWM generation block is running at 120kHz to ensure fine step size for more accurate PWM gating signals.


Figure 5.2: dSPACE-CPLD Control system

The CPLD (Xilinks XCR3064XL) is soldered programmed on a CPLD interface board that is designed and installed in the prototype to convert the electrical signals from the DS1103 to the optic signals providing IGCT gatings. Also, the CPLD interface board provides hardware protections to the CSR system, including gating logic protection and relay control.

The feedback variables for the CSR system include the three-phase CSR line current, three-phase CSR PWM current, three-phase source voltage and DC link current. A sensor board installed with LA 25-P voltage sensors and LA 55-P current sensors is constructed for this prototype from LEM Components. These signals are measured and sent back to the dSPACE control system for DC current control and the SHC PWM scheme.

A three-phase programmable voltage source (Lx4500) from California Instruments is used as the grid with controllable background harmonics.

5.2 Experiments for the Proposed Filter Design

Method

The experimental results related to the CSR input filter design are provided in this section. First, the L_{eq} of 0.109 p.u. (1.25 mH) is applied, and thus the line resonant frequency ω_{eq} becomes 4.78 p.u. (C_{eq} is 0.4 p.u.). The CSR line current and DC current waveforms are given in Figure 5.3. The measured line current THD for this case is 7.9%, and the 5th harmonic content is 3.3%. This means that 4.78 p.u. ω_{eq} is very close to a CSR input resonance corresponding to the 5th-order harmonic. As expected, this 5th-order harmonic resonant point is drifted to a lower value due to the DC link circuit. Considering that the experimental p.u. parameters are very close to the simulation ones, the increase of 5th harmonic and therefore THD at $\omega_{eq} = 4.78$ p.u. in the experiment is consistent with the simulation data in Table 4.2.

The second experiment work is carried out to verify the designed filter ($L_f=0.12$ p.u. and $C_f=0.4$ p.u.). The results are shown in Figure 5.4. In this case, 0.126 p.u. L_{eq} and 0.4 p.u. C_{eq} is applied, and ω_{eq} is decreased slightly to 4.45 p.u. compared to the previous case. The results show that the line current THD is reduced to 5.1%, and the 5th harmonic is reduced to 1.1%. Obviously, the input resonance is avoided.



Figure 5.3: Results of filter design experiment case 1

(a) DC link current (2 A/div), (b) input line current (2 A/div), time: 10ms/div. $(L_{eq}=0.109 \text{ p.u.}, C_{eq}=0.4 \text{ p.u.}, \omega_{res}=4.78 \text{ p.u.}, \text{ THD}=7.9\%, 5^{\text{th}} \text{ harmonic}=3.4\%)$



Figure 5.4: Results of filter design experiment case 2

(a) DC link current (2 A/div), (b) input line current (2 A/div), time: 10ms/div. (L_{eq} =0.126 p.u. C_{eq} =0.4p.u., ω_{res} =4.45 p.u., THD=5.1%, 5th harmonic=1.1%)

5.3 Experiments for the Proposed SHC PWM

Scheme

The proposed SHC PWM and its quasi-online implementation are tested in this section. The experimental parameters are shown in Table 5.1. Note that the grid voltage in the experiment is intentionally reduced to avoid too high 5th harmonic in the line current when traditional SHE is used. This high 5th line current harmonic might trigger the protection of the programmable voltage source. In the experiments, since a large DC inductor is applied, the DC current ripples are not obvious and the DC link harmonic compensation is not necessary in this experiment. Therefore, the SHC scheme without compensation of DC current ripple effects is selected and applied.

In the experiments, only the 5^{th} harmonic (2% - 3%) in the grid voltage is considered as the effect of this harmonic is amplified by the CSR input LC filter. Therefore a two-dimensional look-up table is developed for this single harmonic compensation. Both transient and steady state results of the SHC PWM are obtained in the experiments.

5.3.1 Case 1: Steady State Performance of SHC Scheme

In the first experiment, the grid voltage v_s is programmed with 3% 5th harmonic (phase angle is randomly selected as 130°), and both traditional SHE and SHC schemes are carried out and compared. Figure 5.5 (a) shows the steady state line current, CSR PWM current and DC link current obtained using the traditional SHE PWM. Figure 5.5 (b) shows the respective steady state waveforms when the



Figure 5.5: Results of SHC experiment case 1

(a) traditional SHE, all currents: 5 A/div., time: 10ms/div. line current

THD=12.1%, 5th harmonic =10.7% (b) Proposed SHC, all currents: 5 A/div., time: 10ms/div. line current THD=1.8%, 5th harmonic=0.8%



Figure 5.6: Results of SHC experiment case 2 All current: 5 A/div., time: 10ms/div.

proposed SHC PWM scheme is implemented. From Figure 5.5 (a) and (b), it is obviously shown that the proposed SHC scheme can obtain a significant improvement on the line current THD (reducing from 12.1% to 1.8%) and its 5th harmonic (decreased from 10.7% to 0.8%) compared to the traditional SHE.

5.3.2 Case 2: PWM Scheme Transient

The second experiment is run to study the PWM scheme switching transient (From SHE to SHC). This type of transient reflects the situation when the grid voltage contains 3% 5th harmonics and the PWM scheme is switched manually from traditional SHE to the proposed SHC in order to compensate the grid voltage harmonics and meet the line current harmonic requirements. As shown in Figure 5.6, this transition is very smooth and the DC current is not affected. Furthermore, it is obvious that with a 3% 5th harmonic in the grid voltage, the SHC can significantly improve the line current harmonic performance.



Figure 5.7: Results of SHC experiment case 3 vs: 50V/div., is, iw: 10A/div. id: 5A/div. time: 20ms/div.

5.3.3 Case 3: Grid Voltage Harmonic Transient

In this case, the 5^{th} harmonic in the grid voltage is programmed with a step change from 0% to 3%, and the PWM pattern is automatically adjusted by the scheme accordingly.

The performance of the SHC PWM under this transient is shown in Figure 5.7. It can be seen that the SHC will reach the steady state fairly quick in about two fundamental cycles. This settling time is mainly affected by the grid voltage 5th harmonic measurement process in the SDFT. It can also be seen from Figure 5.7 that the DC current are not affected in this transient. This is because the fundamental component control is completely decoupled from the harmonic compensation in the proposed SHC scheme (by adopting a fixed phase angle for the fundamental component in the PWM).



Figure 5.8: Results of SHC experiment case 4 *i_s*, *i_w*: 10A/div.; *i_d*: 1A/div. time: 100ms/div.

5.3.4 Case 4: DC Current Transient

The transient performance of the proposed SHC PWM under a DC current step change is also tested in the experiment. In this test, the CSR system is initially operated with SHC (with 3% grid voltage harmonic). The DC current reference then changed from 3A to 5A. The transient waveforms are shown in Figure 5.8. It can be seen that the proposed SHC scheme does not affect the DC current transient performance.

5.4 Summary

This chapter provides experimental verifications for both the filter design method proposed in Chapter 2 and the developed SHC PWM scheme discussed in Chapter 3. Experiments are carried out on a 10 kVA CSR prototype based on a dSAPCE/CPLD control system. The results show that the unexpected high line current THD caused by the variation of the source inductance in the power system and the impacts of CSR DC side circuit can be avoided by using the proposed filter design method. Furthermore, the proposed SHC PWM scheme and its quasi-online implementation method can significantly reduce the CSR line current harmonics compared to the traditional SHE method, while the CSR DC current control performance is not affected at all. This reduction of line current harmonics is especially obvious when the grid voltage background harmonics are present.

Chapter 6

Conclusion and Future Work

Line current harmonic control is an important issue for a grid-connected CSR system. The CSR line current distortions are mainly related to two aspects: 1) the CSR input LC filter design and 2) the CSR PWM method. Additional method for the line current harmonics control, such as passive filters tuned at the 5th or 7th harmonic frequency, can also be applied at the CSR line side. However, this will result in further component cost especially at high-power medium-voltage level.

An input LC filter is required for a CSR system for the device commutation and switching harmonics attenuation. However, when the filter is not designed properly, the CSR line inductance may become sensitive to the source inductance in the power system, which may change the total equivalent resonant frequency on the CSR line side. This may lead to an unexpected THD performance of the CSR line current. Furthermore, the impact of the CSR DC side on the AC side is commonly neglected in the LC filter design. However, the impact from the CSR DC side circuit on the resonant frequency can be noticeable when the DC inductance is not large enough, which is typically the case in industry considering the increased cost with a larger inductor.

Regarding the PWM methods for a high-power CSR system, SHE PWM is

currently the most popular method in industry, which can eliminate a few low-order harmonics in the CSR PWM current, and can be implemented without the zero switching state to avoid unnecessary switching losses. However, the traditional SHE does not consider the effects of grid voltage background harmonics and the DC link current ripples. This will lead to considerable performance difference considering that the CSR input filter is usually tuned with a low resonant frequency that amplifies the effects of 5th harmonics in the grid voltage.

Realizing the aforementioned challenges on a high-power CSR line current harmonic control, this thesis focuses on the topics of input LC filter design and new PWM technique development. Contributions from this thesis and recommended future research work on these topics are summarized in the following sections.

6.1 Thesis Contributions

To address the challenges of LC filter resonance drifting due to the grid impedance variation, a CSR filter design approach is designed in Chapter 2. In the proposed method, the filter inductor is selected by comparing the CSR line current harmonics trend curve with a desired THD curved (5%). Variation of the grid impedance and its effects can be clearly shown in the harmonics trend curves and therefore these effects can be properly considered. For a CSR system with lower DC link inductance, the effects of DC side circuit on the CSR AC side input resonance are also analyzed in Chapter 2. An equivalent 3rd-order transfer function is developed to include the DC side effects. It has been shown that for a typical inductor of 0.5-0.8 pu as used in a current source drive system, the consideration of the DC circuit effects may be necessary.

Considering the effects of grid voltage background harmonics (particularly the effects of the 5th harmonics, which may be amplified by the CSR input LC filter)

and the DC link current ripples, Chapter 3 develops a new SHC PWM scheme for the high-power CSR. The proposed SHC PWM can compensate the grid voltage harmonics and DC link current ripple effects and thus can produce a clean CSR line current without any additional passive filtering cost. In Chapter 3, the generalized formulations for SHC scheme waveforms are also derived and the coordination of the SHC PWM with the CSR system delay angle control scheme is designed. Further considering the variations of grid voltage harmonics, a quasi-online PWM control scheme based on the pre-calculated look-up table is also developed in Chapter 3 for real-time implementation of the proposed SHC method.

To verify the proposed filter design approach and the SHC PWM method, a Matlab/Simulink CSR system model is developed in Chapter 4. A hardware 10kVA CSR prototype, on the other hand, is constructed in Chapter 5. Both the simulation results and experimental results prove the effectiveness of the filter design approach and the superior performance of the proposed SHC PWM method compared to the traditional SHE PWM.

6.2 Future Work

The recommended further work is mainly on the SHC PWM part, which can be summarized as:

 Development of a complete on-line SHC switching angle calculation algorithm. The proposed SHC PWM scheme shows a high performance with the designed quasi-online scheme for real-time applications. However, when compensating more grid voltage harmonics, the size of the look-up table will increase rapidly. With a complete on-line calculation algorithm, the compensation of more harmonics, or even running the converter as an active power filter, will be possible. 2) Further investigation on the harmonic voltage detection techniques. For the SHC PWM to work properly, the accurate detections of grid voltage and DC link current harmonics are important. In this work, the SDFT is used for this purpose with satisfactory performance. However, considering the possible slight variation of grid frequency, and the very small grid voltage harmonic magnitude (compared to the fundamental), further evaluation of the SDFT performance under different conditions need to be studied. Other harmonics extraction methods should also be investigated and new technique may need to be developed.

Bibliography

- [1] B. Wu, *High-Power Converters and ac Drives.* Wiley-IEEE Press, March 2006.
- [2] M. H. Rashid, *Power Electronics Handbook*. Academic Press, 2001
- [3] N. Mohan, T. M. Undeland, and W. P. Robbins, Power Electronics Converters, Applications, and Design (Second Edition). John Wiley & Sons. Inc, 1995
- B. W. Williams, Power electronics Devices, Drivers, Applications, and Passive Components. McGraw – Hill (Tx), September 1992.
- [5] S. SenGupta, K. Mukherjee, T. Kumar Bhattacharya, and A. K. Chattopadhyay, "Performance of an SCR-inverter-based commutatorless series motor with load commutation and unaided startup capability," *IEEE Trans. Ind. Appl.*, vol. 36, no. 4, pp. 1151–1157, Jul./Aug. 2000.
- [6] M.P. Kazmierkowski and L. Malesani, "Current Control Techniques for Three-Phase Voltage-Source PWM Converters: A Survey," *IEEE Trans. Ind. Electron.*, vol. 45, no. 5, pp 691-703, Oct. 1998.
- [7] M. Carpita and M. Marchesoni, "Experimental study of a power conditioning system using sliding mode control," *IEEE Trans. Power Electron.*, vol. 11, pp. 731–742, Sept. 1996.
- [8] M. Routimo, M. Salo, and H. Tuusa, "Current sensorless control of a voltage source active power filter," in Proc. 20th Annu. Appl. Power Electron. Conf. (APEC'05), Mar. 6–10, 2005, vol. 3, pp. 1696–1702.
- [9] J. Rodríguez, S. Bernet, B. Wu, J. Pontt, and S. Kouro, "Multilevel voltage-source-converter topologies for industrial medium-voltage drives," *IEEE Trans. Ind. Electron.*, vol. 54, no. 6, pp. 2930–2945, Dec. 2007.
- [10] T. Podlesak, D. Katsis, P. Wheeler, J. Clare, L. Empringham, and M. Bland, "A 150-kVA vector-controlled matrix converter induction motor drive," *IEEE Trans. Ind. Appl.*, vol. 41, no. 3, pp. 841–847, May/Jun. 2005.
- [11] D. A. Paice, Power Electronic Converter Harmonic Multipulse Methods for Clean Power. New York: IEEE Press, 1996.
- [12] J. Salmon and D. Koval, "Improving the operation of 3-phase diode rectifiers using an asymmetrical half-bridge DC-link active filter," in *Ind. Appl. Soc. Ann.*

Meet., IEEE, 2000 Conf. Proc., 2000, vol. 4, pp. 2115-2122.

- [13] IEEE Recommended Practices and Requirements for Harmonic Control in Electrical Power Systems, IEEE Std. 519-1992, 1992.
- [14] J. Salmon, "3-phase PWM boost rectifier circuit topologies using 2-level and 3-level asymmetrical half-bridges," in *IEEE, IAS Ann. Meet., Conf. Proc.*, 1995, pp. 842-848
- [15] D. E. Rice, "A detailed analysis of six-pulse converter harmonic currents," *IEEE Trans. Ind. Appl.*, vol. 30, no. 2, pp. 294–304, Mar./Apr.1994.
- [16] D. G. Holmes and T. A. Lipo, Pulse Width Modulation for Power Converters: Principles and Practice. New York: Wiley, 2003.
- [17] L. Benchaita, S. Saadate, and A. Salem nia, "A comparison of voltage source and current source shut active filter by simulation and experimentation," *IEEE Trans. Power Syst.*, vol. 14, no. 2, pp. 642–647, May 1999.
- [18] Y. W. LI, M. Pande, N. Zargari, and B. Wu, "Power-Factor Compensation for PWM CSR-CSI-Fed High-Power Drive System Using Flux Adjustment," *IEEE Trans. Power Electron.*, Vol. 24, no. 12, pp. 3014-3019, Dec. 2009.
- [19] K. H. J. Chong and R. D. Klug, "High-power medium-voltage drives," in *Proc. PowerCon*, Nov. 21–24, 2004, vol. 1, pp. 658–664.
- [20] D. Xu, N. Zargari, B. Wu et al., "A medium-voltage AC drive with parallel current source inverters for high-power applications," in *Proc. IEEE PESC*, 2005, pp. 2277–2283.
- [21] S. Kwak and H. A. Toliyat, "Current-source-rectifier topologies for sinusoidal supply current: Theoretical studies and analyses," *IEEE Trans. Ind. Electron.*, vol. 53, no. 3, pp. 984–987, Jun. 2006.
- [22] J. R. Rodriguez, J. Ponu, C. Silva, E. P. Wiechmann, P. W. Hammond, F. W. Santucci, R. Alvarez, R. Musalem, S. Kouro, and P. Lezana, "Large current rectifiers: State of the art and future trends," *IEEE Trans. Ind. Electron.*, Vol. 52, no. 3, pp. 738-745, Jun. 2005.
- [23] S. Wei, N. Zargari, B. Wu, and S. Rizzo, "Comparison and mitigation of common mode voltage in power converter topologies," in *Ind. Appl. Conf. 2004. 39th. IAS Ann. Meet., Proc., vol. 3.*, 2004, pp. 1852 – 1857.
- [24] J. I. Guzman, J. R. Espinoza, "Improvement Issues on the Input Filter Design for PWM-CSR that are SHE Modulated," in *Proc. IEEE 36th Power Electronics Specialists Conference, 2005. PESC '05*, June 16 2005, pp. 474 - 480.
- [25] Y. Sato, T. Kataoka, "A current type PWM rectifier with active damping function Industry Applications Conference", in *IAS Ann. Meet.*, *IEEE 1995.*, Conf. Proc., vol. 3, 8-12 Oct. 1995, pp.2333 - 2340.
- [26] T. Kataoka, K. Mizumachi, and S. Miyairi, "A Pulse-width Controlled AC to DC Converter to Improve Power Factor and Waveform of AC Line Current," *IEEE Trans. Ind. Appl.*, vol 15, pp.670-675,1979.

- [27] S. Rees, "New cascaded control system for current-source rectifiers," *IEEE Trans. Ind. Electron.*, vol. 52, no. 3, pp. 774–784, Jun. 2005.
- [28] R. E. Betz, R. J. Evans, and B. J. Cook, "Optimal pulsewidth modulation for current source inverters," *IEEE Trans. Ind. Electron.*, vol. IE-33, no. 3, pp.318-324, Aug. 1986.
- [29] C. Klumpner, "A new single-stage current source inverter for photovoltaic and fuel cell applications using reverse blocking IGBTs," in *Proc. IEEE PESC 2007*, Jun. 17–21, 2007, pp. 1683–1689.
- [30] P. M. Espelage and J. M. Nowak, "Symmetrical GTO current source inverter for wide speed range control of 2300 to 4160 volt, 350 to 7000 hp, induction motors," in *Proc. IEEE IAS Ann. Meet.*, 1988, pp. 302-307.
- [31] Q. Feng, J. Y. Hung, and R. M. Nelms, "Digital control of a boost converter using Posicast," in *Proc. IEEE APEC*, 2003, pp. 990–995.
- [32] Y. Xiao, B. Wu, F. DeWinter, and R. Sotudeh, "A dual GTO current source converter topology with sinusoidal inputs for high-power applications," in *Proc. IEEE APEC*'97, 1997, pp. 679–684.
- [33] H. Bilgin, M. Ermis, "Design and Implementation of a Current-Source Converter for Use in Industry Applications of D-STATCOM," IEEE Trans. Power Electron., vol.25, no. 8 pp. 1943-1957, August 2010
- [34] M. Lyuscher, T. Setz, and P. Kern, Application Note on Applying IGCT Gate Units, Doc no. 5SYA 2031-02. Switzerland: ABB, 2005.
- [35] H. S. Patel and R. G. Hoft, "Generalized techniques of harmonic elimination and voltage control in thyristor inverters, Part I-Harmonic elimination," *IEEE Trans. Ind. Appl.*, vol. IA-9, no. 3, pp. 310-317, May/June 1973.
- [36] P. N. Enjeti, P. D. Ziogas, and J. F. Lindsay, "Programmed PWM techniques to eliminate harmonics, Acritical evaluation," *IEEE Trans. Ind. Appl.*, vol. 26, no. 2, pp. 302-316, Mar./Apr. 1990.
- [37] Y. Xiao, B. Wu, S.C. Rizzo, and R.Sotudeh, "A novel power factor control scheme for high-power GTO current-source converter," *IEEE Trans. Ind. Appl.*, vol. 34, no. 6, pp. 1278 – 1283, Nov. 1998.
- [38] Katic and Graovac, "A Method for PWM Rectifier Line Side Filter Optimization in Transient and Steady State," *IEEE Trans. on Power Electron.*, vol, 17, no. 3, pp 342-352, June 2002.
- [39] Y. W. Li, B. Wu, N. Zargari, J. Wiseman, and D. Xu, "An Effective Method to Suppress Resonance in Input LC Filter of a PWM Current-Source Rectifier," in *Conf. Rec. IEEE IPEMC*'06, Conf. Proc., Shanghai China, pp. 1-6, 2006.
- [40] M. Salo and H. Tuusa, "A new control system with a control delay compensation for a current-source active power filter," *IEEE Trans. Ind. Electron.*, vol. 52, no. 6, pp. 1616–1624, Dec. 2005.
- [41] M. Liserre, A. Dell'Aquila, and F. Blaabjerg, "Stability improvements of an LCL-filter based three-phase active rectifier," in *Proc. IEEE PESC*, 2002, pp.

1195 - 1201.

- [42] N. Zargari, G. Joos, and P.Ziogas, "Input Filter Design for PWM Current-Source Rectifiers", *IEEE Trans. Ind. Appl.*, vol. 30, no. 6, pp.1573 – 1579, Nov. 1994.
- [43] Y. Neba, "A simple method for suppression of resonance oscillation in PWM current source converter," *IEEE Trans. Power Electron.*, vol. 20, no. 1, pp. 132–139, Jan. 2005.
- [44] J. R. Espinoza, G. Joos, J. I. Guzman, L. A. Moran, and R. P. Burgos, "Selective harmonic elimination and current/voltage control in current/ voltage-source topologies: A unified approach," *IEEE Trans. Ind. Electron.*, vol. 48, no. 1, pp. 71–81, Feb. 2001.
- [45] J. I. Guzman, J. R. Espinoza, L. A. Moran, and G. Joos, "Selective Harmonic Elimination in Multimodule Three-Phase Current-Source Converters," *IEEE Trans. Power Electron.*, vol. 25, no. 1, pp. 44–53, Jan. 2010.
- [46] H. R. Karshenas, H. A. Kojori, and S. B. Dewan, "Generalized Techniques of Selective Harmonic Elimination and Current Control in Current Source Inverters/Converters." *IEEE Trans. Power Electron.*, Vol. 10, no.5, pp. 566-573, Sept. 1995.
- [47] Y. W. Li, M. Pande, N. Zargari, and B. Wu "DC-Link Current Minimization for High-Power Current-Source Motor Drives," *IEEE Trans. Power Electron.*, vol. 24, pp. 232-240, Jan. 2009.
- [48] Y. Xiao, B. Wu, N.R. Zargari, and R. Sotudeh, "Design of line/motor side capacitors for PWM CSR-CSI drives to achieve optimal power factor in high-power fan/pump applications," in *Proc. of 12th APEC IEEE 1997*, pp. 333 - 337.
- [49] B. Wu, S.A. Dewan, and G.R. Slemin, "PWM-CSI inverter for induction motor drives," *IEEE Trans. Ind. Appl.*, vol. 28, no. 1, pp.64 – 71, Jan./Feb 1992.
- [50] W. Fei, X. Ruan, and B. Wu, "A Generalized Formulation of Quarter-Wave Symmetry SHE-PWM Problems for Multilevel Inverters", *IEEE Trans. Power Electron.*, vol. 24, No. 7, pp. 1758 - 1766, 2009.
- [51] W. Fei, Y. Zhang, and X. Ruan, "Solving the SHE-PWM nonlinear equations for three-level voltage inverter based on computed initial values," in *Proc. IEEE Appl. Electron. Conf.*, vol. 2, Anaheim, CA, 2007, pp. 1369–1372.
- [52] J. N. Chiasson, L. M. Tolbert, K. J. McKenzie, and Z. Du, "A complete solution to the harmonic elimination problem," *IEEE Trans. Power Electron.*, vol. 19, No. 2, pp. 491–499, 2004.
- [53] D. G. Holmes and T. A. Lipo, Pulse Width Modulation for Power Converters Principles and Practice. New York: IEEE, 2003.
- [54] J.N. Chiasson, L. M. Tolbert, K. J. McKenzie, and D. Zhong, "Elimination of harmonics in a multilevel converter using the theory of symmetric polynomials and resultants," *IEEE Trans. Contr. Syst. Technol.*, vol. 13, no. 2, pp. 216–223, Mar. 2005.

- [55] A. I. Maswood, S. Wei, and M. A. Rahman, "A flexible way to generate PWM-SHE switching patterns using genetic algorithm," in *Proc. Applied Power Electronics Conf.*, 2001, pp. 1130–1134.
- [56] V. G. Agelidis, A. Balouktsis, and I. Balouktsis, "On applying a minimization technique to the harmonic elimination PWM control: the bipolar waveform," *IEEE Power Electron. Lett.*, vol. 2, no. 2, pp. 41–44, Jun. 2004.
- [57] I. J. Pitel, S. N. Talukdar, and P. Wood, "Characterization of programmed-waveform pulse-width modulation," *IEEE Trans. Ind. Appl.*, vol. IA-16, pp. 707–715, 1980.
- [58] J.R. Wells, B.M. Nee, P.L. Chapman and P.T. Krein, "Selective harmonic control: a general problem formulation and selected solutions," *IEEE Trans. Power Electron.*, Vol. 20, pp. 1337-1345, Nov. 2005.
- [59] J. R. Wells, B. M. Nee, P. L. Chapman, and P. T. Krein, "Optimal harmonic elimination control," in *Proc. Power Electronics Specialists Conf.*, 2004, pp. 4214–4219.
- [60] M.S.A. Dahidah, V.G. Agelidis, and M.V.C. Rao, "On abolishing symmetry requirements in the formulation of a five-level selective harmonic elimination pulse width modulation technique," *IEEE Trans. Power Electron.*, Vol. 21, No. 6, pp. 1833-1837, Nov. 2006.
- [61] M. S. A. Dahidah and V.G. Agelidis, "Non-symmetrical selective harmonic elimination PWM techniques: the unipolar waveform," in *Record of IEEE PESC*, Orlando, Florida, U.S.A., 17-21 2007. pp. 1885-1891.
- [62] C. Namuduri and P. C. Sen, "Optimal pulsewidth modulation for current source inverters," *IEEE Trans. Ind. Appl.*, vol. 22, no. 6, pp.1052-1072, Nov./Dec. 1986.
- [63] J. Rodriguez, B. Wu, M. Rivera, C. Rojas, V.Yaramasu, and A. Wilson," Predictive current control of three-phase two-level four-leg inverter," in *Record* of 14th EPE/PEMC 2010, pp. T3-106 - T3-110.
- [64] J. Rodriguez, J. Pontt, C. A. Silva, P. Correa, P. Lezana, P. Cortes, and U. Ammann, "Predictive current control of a voltage source inverter," *IEEE Trans. Ind. Electron.*, vol. 54, no. 1, pp. 495 -503, Feb. 2007.
- [65] E.Jacobsen, and R. Lyons, "The sliding DFT," *IEEE Signal Processing Magazine*, vol.20, no.2, pp. 74-80, 2003.
- [66] I. Chung, "On the relations between the BLMS algorithm and the generalized sliding DFT," in *Proc. IEEE TENCON '96.*, 1996, pp. 580-583.